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LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

March 6 2014 

Thomas J. Gable, Chair, M. Ellen Brzytwa, RN MSN MPH, Kenneth Haber, 
Kathleen T. McGorray, PhD, and Mousab Tabbaa, MD 

Lisa M. Barrett, Esq., James R. Crandell, MD, Michael J. Meehan, Esq., William J. 
Riebel, MD MS, and Shannan Ritchie 

Pursuant to due notice a Special Meeting of the Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees of 
Lakewood Hospital Association was held on Thursday, March 6, 2014, at 1:00 p.m. The meeting 
was conducted by telephone conference; all participants could hear and be heard by all other 
participants. The Trustees designated above as present, constituting a quorum, were in attendance. 

Mr. Gable opened the meeting by welcoming those in attendance and thanking them for participating in the 
Special Meeting. He stated that the purpose of the Special Meeting, as set forth in the Meeting Notice, was 
to consider amendments to the Medical Staff By-Laws that had been approved and recommended for 
governing board approval by the Medical Executive Committee ("MEC") of the Medical Staff in response to 
findings made during a recent survey by representatives from the Ohio Department of Health on behalf of 
the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS"). Mr. Gable invited Ms. Barrett of the Cleveland 
Clinic Law Department to review the MEC's recommendation. 

Ms. Barrett said that the proposed By-Laws amendments would eliminate the category of tempormy 
privileges and add a category for emergency privileges. She said that these changes were being adopted 
throughout the enterprise. She reviewed the rationale for the proposed amendments. She said that 
Lakewood Hospital had submitted a corrective action plan as a result of the recent CMS review that included 
the changes in the By-Laws and that the Hospital desired to have the changes approved by the MEC, the 
Medical Staff, and the governing board by the time the reviewers returned to the Hospital for follow-up 
within the next several weeks. She said that CMS guidelines and the proposed By-Laws amendments 
permitted governing board approval of emergency privileges by any member of the governing board. A 
copy of the By-Laws amendments had been previously distributed to the members of the Committee. 

Dr. Riebel, Vice President, Medical Operations, and Dr. Crandell, President of the Medical Staff, then 
expressed their support for the proposed amendments, indicating that the MEC had approved the 
amendments and that the entire Medical Staff was then in the process of voting to approve the amendments. 
They further expressed their support, along with Mr. Ritchie, for authorizing any member of the Board of 
Trustees to approve and terminate emergency privileges in contrast to limiting the authorizing Board 
member to a Board member who was a physician. After discussing the limited scenarios applicable to the 
utilization of emergency privileges, and distinguishing emergency privilege approval from expedited 
approval, there was support for permitting any Board member to be so authorized. 
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Following a general discussion, on motion duly made and seconded, the Executive Committee unanimously 
adopted the following Resolutions: 

WHEREAS, the Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees of Lakewood Hospital Association 
is authorized by the Code of Regulations of Lakewood Hospital Association to act on behalf of the 
Board of Trustees during intervals hetween meetings of the Board of Trustees; 

BE IT RESOLVED, that the recommendation of the Medical Executive Committee of the Medical 
Staff of Lakewood Hospital to amend Sections IV.8 and IV.9 of the Medical Staff By-Laws of 
Lakewood Hospital be approved by entirely deleting the language depicted on the document entitled, 
"Current Medical Staff By-Laws Re: Temporary Privileges and Emergency Services," and replacing 
it with the wording depicted on the document entitled, "Proposed Lakewood Hospital Medical Staff 
Bylaw Amendment," said documents being attached hereto and made a part hereof; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that any member of the Board of Trustees of Lakewood Hospital 
Association, at the present time or in the future, is hereby authorized to grant and/or terminate 
emergency privileges in accordance with these By-Laws amendments. 

There being no further business to come before the meeting, the same, on motion duly made and seconded, 
was adjourned. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Michael J. Meehan 
Secretary 
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PROPOSED LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL MEDICAL STAFF BYLAW AMENDMENT 

Emergency Privileges, Emergency Provision of Clinical Care 
1. Emergency Privileges 

Emergency admitting and clinical privileges to meet important patient care, treatment and/or service needs may be 
requested by: I) an ABMS or AOA board eligible/qualified or board certified practitioner or equivalently 
trained/experienced practitioner who is not a member of the medical staff; 2) a physician assistant; or 3) an 
advanced practice nurse. 

a. Process 
Emergency Privileges may be granted upon: 

I. Submission of either an "Emergency Privileges Application" or a completed "Medical Staff 
Application", which is currently pending; 
2. Successful primary source verification of the practitioner's current licensure, relevant training 
and experience, clinical competence, ability to perform the privileges requested, query and evaluation of 
NPDB information; and 
3. Documentation of current professional liability insurance coverage. 

This verification process does not constitute, nor is it synonymous with, a completed credential and 
privilege process that the Hospital uses when credentialing members or prospective members seeking 
permanent privileges. 

Practitioners are not eligible for Emergency Privileges if: 
a) Current or previously successful challenge to licensure and registration; 
b) Involuntary termination of medical staff membership at another organization; 
c) Involuntary limitation, reduction, denial or loss of clinical privileges; 
d) Excessive number or unusual pattern of professional liability actions (as determined by the 
Hospital) or 
e) Any other event that would disqualify a practitioner from Medical Staff Membership under 
the Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules and Regulations or Policies. 

Emergency Privileges may be recommended by the Chief of Staff, his/her designee, or Hospital President, 
his/her designee and/or Chair of the relevant clinical department, and must be granted by a member of the 
Governing Body. 

b. Termination 
Emergency Privileges are in effect until the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Governing Body, but may 
not exceed 120 days. 

On the discovery of any information or the occurrence of any event of a professionally questionable nature 
concerning a practitioner's qualifications or ability to exercise any or all of the emergency privileges granted, 
Chief Executive Officer may, after consultation with the Chief of Staff suspend, pending termination by a 
member of the Governing Body, any or all such practitioner's emergency privileges. Where the life or well
being of a patient is endangered by continued treatment by the practitioner, the suspension maybe effected by 
any person entitled to impose summary suspension under Article X, pending termination by a member of the 
Governing Body. 

c. Rights of Practitioner 
A practitioner shall not be entitled to the procedural rights afforded by these bylaws because of his/her 
inability to obtain emergency privileges or because of any termination or suspension of such privileges. 

2. Emergency Provision for Clinical Care 
During an emergency, any Member of the Medical Staff who has clinical privileges is permitted to provide any type of 
patient care necessary as a life-saving measure or to prevent serious harm (regardless of his or her clinical privileges), 
provided that the care provided is within the scope of the individual's license unless otherwise directed by a known 
advance directive, or in the case of a conscious competent adult patient, a known informed directive to withhold 
such life sustaining treatment. "Emergency" is defined as a condition in which serious or permanent harm would result 
to a patient, or in which the life of a patient is in immediate danger and any delay in administering treatment would add to 
that danger. 
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CURRENT MEDICAL STAFF BY -LAWS 
RE: TEMPORARY PRIVILEGES AND EMERGENCY SERVICES 

IV.B TeMPORARY PRIVIleGeS 

Uf)on written recommendation of tho chair of the dof)artmont 'Nhore tho f)Fivilegos will be exersised, tho Credentials 
CommiUoe Chair, and tho President of the Medical Staff, the Hosf)ilal President may grant tomf)oFaF)' f)Fi•1ileges in the 
following sirsumstanses: 

A. Important Patient Care ~lead: 

Temf)OraF)' f)Fivileges may be granted by the Hosf)ital President or his designee to a wastitioner when it has been 
determined that there is an imf)ortant f)atient care, treatment and/or service need. lmf)ortant f)alient care need is defined 
as a f)rastilioner who f)rovides SflOGialized skills or a service whish is not readily available and when in the Of) inion of the 
Def)artmenl Chair, temf)orary !Jfi\·ileges weuld f)rovide of)limum continuity of care. Such temf)orary f)Fivileges must be 
requested by tho wastitionor. Primary source verification of surrentlisensure, clinical somf)olense and a request for 
information disclosure from the ~lPDB, shall be f)erformed and dosumentation of f)rofossionalliability insurance coverage 
required f)rior to granting temf)orary f)rivileges. The decision to grant wivileges shall be based on the recommendations 
of the Def)artment Chair, Credentials Commillee Chair and President of the Medical Staff. Privileges shall be f)alient 
SflOCifis or of limited duration not to exceed 90 days. 

B. Temporary Privileges for Nmvl\pplisants 

Such temf)orary wivileges must be requested by the al)f)lisant, and the decision to grant temf)orary j)rivileges def)ends 
on the comf)leteness of tho af)f)lication, and tho likelihood of positive final action on the af)f)lisation, and a demonstrated 
need or health care interest of the community. A comf)letod af)f)lisation is defined as one that Aas met all of lAo 
requirements outlined in Article V.4, and is doomed ready for submission to the af)f)rovalf)rosess. /\ sloan af)f)lisation 
has no substantial controversial issues as defined in Article V.4. Temf3orary f)Fivileges are granted until final board action 
but no longer than 90 days. 

C. Other Conditions 

Special requirements of consultation and reporting may be imposed by the chair of the del)artmenl responsible for the 
suf)ervision of a practitioner granted lemf)orary privileges. Before temporary privileges are granted, the practitioner must 
acknowledge tAal he/sAo has received, or been given assess to, the Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules and Regulations, and 
that tho practitioner agrees to be bound by tho terms thereof in all matters relating to tho granting of temporary 
pri\•ileges. 

D. Termination 

On the discovery of any information or the occurrence of any event of a nature which raises question about a 
practitioner's professional qualifications or ability to exercise any or all of the temporary privileges granted, the 
HOSPITAL PRESIDENT or the President of the Medical Staff may, after consultation 'Nilh the department chair 
responsible for suf)ervision, terminate any or all of such practitioner's temporary privileges. VVhere the life or well being 
of a patient is determined to be endangered by continued treatment by a practitioner, the termination may be effected by 
any person entitled to imf)ose summary susf)ension under Article X. In the event of any such termination, the 
practitioner's f)atients then in the hospital shall be assigned to another practitioner by the department chair responsible 
for supervision. The wishes of the f)alientshallbe considered, 'Nhere feasible, in choosing a substitute f)ractilioner. 

E. Rights oflhe Practitioner 

:\ f)ractilioner shall not be entitled to the procedural rights afforded by Article VIII and the Fair Hearing Plan because his 
request for temf30F8FJ' privileges is refused or because all or any portion of his temporary privileges are terminated or 
suspended. 

1'1.9 eMeRGeNCY SeRVICeS 

For f3Urposes of this Section, an "emergency" is defined as a condition or clinical situation in whish serious or permanent harm 
would result to a patient or in whish the lifo of a patient is in immediate danger and any delay in administering treatment would 
add to that danger. In the case of an emergency, any wastilionor to the degree permitted by his license and regardless of 
department, staff status or clinical f)rivilogos, shall be permitted to do, and shall be assisted by hospital personnel in doing, 
everything f30ssiblo to sa•le lAo lifo of a patient or to sa\'0 a f)alionl f,<om serious Aarm. 
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LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING OF THE FINANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE 

MAY 1, 2014 

Present: Kenneth Haber (Chair), Curtis M. Brosky, Dennis J. Roche, Gary R. Pritts 

Administration: Ankit Chhabra, CliffCrell, Michael J. Meehan, Esq., Sharman Ritchie 

Guest: Susan R. Flaherty (Ernst & Young) 

Pursuant to due notice, a meeting of the Finance & Audit Committee of the Lakewood Hospital 
Association Board of Trustees was held on Thursday, May 1, 2014 at 7:30 a.m. in the Board Room at 
Lakewood Hospital, 14519 Detroit A venue, Lakewood, Ohio. The aforementioned members of the 
Finance & Audit Committee designated as present were in attendance. Mr. Haber chaired the meeting 
and Mr. Meehan served as recording secretary. 

Mr. Haber opened the meeting by thanking those in attendance for attending. He stated that the meeting 
schedule would include a review of the 2013 Financial Statements, a Financial Update, and an update on 
cost repositioning opportunities. He said that Susan Flaherty, Partner with Ernst & Young, was in 
attendance, and he thanked her for attending. 

Approval of Minutes 

Mr. Haber asked the Committee to review the minutes of the meeting held on February 6, 2014. A 
general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the Finance & Audit Committee 
unanimously accepted as accurate the minutes of the meeting of the Finance & Audit Committee held on 
February 6, 2014, which had been previously approved by the Board of Trustees on February 19,2014. 

Review of 2013 Draft Financial Statements 

Mr. Haber called upon Mr. Chhabra, who then introduced Mr. Crell to review the draft Audited Financial 
Statements of Lakewood Hospital Association for years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (#5 Proofed 
Draft--4/24/2014), and copies thereof were provided to the members of the Committee. Ms. Flaherty 
stated that the draft financial statements, in the opinion of Ernst & Young, presented fairly in all material 
respects the financial position of Lakewood Hospital Association at December 31, 2013 and 2012 and the 
results of its operations and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles. 

Mr. Crell began his review by noting that there were two atypical financial circumstances worth noting at 
the outset in connection with the 2013 financial statements. First, Lakewood Hospital Association had 
refunded its Series 2003 hospital revenue bonds in October, 2013. The amount outstanding of this long
term debt had been $10.59 million. A $4.8 million taxable term loan had been executed with Huntington 
Bank and the proceeds were used to pay a portion of the refunding of the bonds. Second, the operations 
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and related financial statement activity of Clinic Regional Physicians (CRP) at Lakewood Hospital had 
transitioned to the Cleveland Clinic as of the beginning of the year. 

Mr. Crell reviewed the Balance Sheets, Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets, and 
Statements of Cash Flows. He also reviewed the Notes to the Financial Statements. The Committee 
observed that the 2012 column in Footnote 4 that icientitieci net patient service revenue by payor category 
had been restated from the prior year's corresponding footnote, although the total dollars remained the 
same. Messrs. Chhabra and Crell explained that the net revenue amounts and percentages had been 
reclassified after more accurate information regarding net revenue amounts had become available in 
connection with the CRP activity. The reclassification of net amounts, while resulting in an increase in 
other payor classes, resulted in a decrease of approximately $6 million in managed care and commercial 
net revenue, 70% of which being associated with CRP; the other 30% would be reviewed by 
Management. Mr. Crell also presented the Unaudited Statement of Financial Position of Lakewood 
Hospital Association for March 31, 2014, and December 31, 2013, copies of which also had been 
distributed. 

The Chair then called upon Ms. Flaherty, who addressed Significant Accounting and Auditing Matters. 
She provided the Required Communications from independent accounting firms to clients, a copy of 
which had been distributed to the Committee. She said that Ernst & Young had received the full support 
and assistance of the Hospital's personnel in conducting its audit. Among the required communications, 
she said that the firm had reviewed the accounting for the hospital's long-term debt refunding transaction 
described above and concluded that the transaction was appropriately recorded and disclosed in the 
financial statements. She also reviewed the accounting treatment of the transition of CRP activities to the 
Cleveland Clinic as of the beginning of 2013, which had previously been recorded in Lakewood 
Hospital's financial statements. 

Ms. Flaherty said that no uncorrected misstatements had been identified for the current year and that no 
significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting had been 
identified. She said that there had been no need for a "management letter" for either Lakewood Hospital 
Association or Cleveland Clinic for 2013. 

Mr. Flaherty stated that Ernst & Young was not aware of any matters that required communication 
regarding fraud or illegal acts involving senior management or fraud or illegal acts that might cause a 
material misstatement of the financial statements. She asked the members of the Committee if they were 
aware of any such acts and they all responded that they were not. She said that there had been no 
significant findings or issues arising from the audit that needed to be addressed with management, and she 
said there had been no significant difficulties encountered during the audit. Ms. Flaherty reported that 
there had been no disagreements with management, and that she was not aware of any consultations by 
management with other accountants She said that there had been no findings regarding confirmation 
requests that had been sent to external sources as part of the audit procedures. 

Ms. Flaherty also stated that the Unaudited Balance Sheets presented by management for March 31, 2014 
appeared consistent with expectations. 

Members of management were then excused from the meeting, and the Finance & Audit Committee 
engaged in a discussion with Ms. Flaherty in the absence of all members of management. Subsequent to 
the discussion, the members of management were invited back into the room and the meeting continued. 
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A general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the Finance & Audit Committee 
unanimously approved, and recommended to the Board of Trustees for approval as final, the 2013 Draft 
Financial Statements. 

The Chair thanked Ms. Flaherty for attending the meeting, whereupon she left the meeting. 

First Quarter Financial Update 

The Chair then called upon Mr. Chhabra, who provided the key points for the first quarter of 2014. He 
said that net patient revenues had been above plan (but below the revenue from 2013). He said that 
overall activity had also been above plan (but below activity levels for 2013), and he particularly 
mentioned that inpatient surgical volumes and rehabilitation volumes had been slightly above plan. He 
also said that Emergency Department volumes (both treat and release as well as admissions) had been 
below plan, and that outpatient surgeries had been below plan. 

Mr. Chhabra stated that operating expenses had been slightly overall positive to budget and that wage
base productivity had been at 101.6%. He said that the operating results had been favorable in 
comparison to plan, but below the results from the prior year. 

Mr. Chhabra then reviewed the hospital financial statements for March 2014 and the first three months of 
2014 year-to-date. He provided a forecast for 2014 based on the first quarter as well. 

Cost Repositioning Update 

The Chair then called upon Mr. Ritchie to provide an update on cost repositioning 1mt1at1ves for 
Lakewood Hospital. Mr. Ritchie first reported on recent personnel reductions in the Cleveland Clinic 
Laboratories enterprise-wide. Mr. Ritchie said that 8 regional and 21 main campus laboratory manager 
positions had been eliminated within the last several weeks and that five new positions had been opened 
for which the displaced persons could bid. He also indicated that the Clinic would be looking next at the 
consolidation of testing done throughout the enterprise, including testing done at the regional hospitals. 
Mr. Ritchie anticipated that there may be some consolidation of testing at Lakewood and Fairview 
Hospitals. Mr. Ritchie said that the management of these services would be absorbed and that he 
anticipated no adverse impact on patient care and that in fact enhancement of patient care was part of the 
review criteria for such decision-making. 

Mr. Ritchie reviewed cost repositioning opportunities in the Skilled Nursing Facility, and he said that the 
parking lease for the lot north of Detroit Rd. had been terminated effective February 28, 2015 as a cost 
reduction measure. Alternative parking plans were being identified. 

Mr. Ritchie said that operational changes were anticipated for the Teen Health Center and that Lakewood 
Hospital was seeking to develop a relationship with Recovery Resources in connection with this 
operation. 

Mr. Ritchie then requested the Committee's recommendation to dissolve a joint venture with Fairview 
Hospital operating at 850 Columbia Road. The venture was called Westlake Imaging, LLC. He said that 
the volume for the joint venture had been dropping. He indicated that the equipment in the joint venture 
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was becoming outdated and that terminating the joint venture would result in a positive EBIDA of 
$135,000. 

A general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the Finance & Audit Committee 
unanimously recommended, from a financial standpoint, that the following resolution be recommended 
for approval by the Board ofTmstees and that the resolution he referred to the Executive Committee for a 
final recommendation to the Full Board: 

WHEREAS, Fairview Hospital ("Fairview") and Lakewood Hospital Association 
("Lakewood") are the only Members ofCCHS Westlake Imaging, LLC (the 
"Company"), and entered into an Operating Agreement in connection therewith; 

WHEREAS, the management of Fairview and Lakewood have determined and 
recommend that the operations of the Company should be discontinued as such and that 
the Company should be wound up and dissolved; 

WHEREAS, to facilitate and efficiently administer the winding up of the Company and 
its dissolution, Lakewood and Fairview have the right with respect to the Company as 
Members to appoint and replace governing Board members; and 

WHEREAS, a corresponding resolution authorizing the actions described below with 
respect to Lakewood has been adopted by the Executive Committee of the Board of 
Directors of Fairview; 

BE IT RESOLVED that Lakewood elects and consents to the dissolution ofthe 
Company pursuant to Sec. 14 of the aforementioned Operating Agreement; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that Michael P. Harrington is hereby appointed as the 
Sole Director of the Company effective as of the date of the adoption of these 
Resolutions; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that such Director is authorized for and on behalf and 
in the name of the Company to negotiate, certify, deliver, file and record any and all 
certificates, documents and instruments and do or cause to be done any and all such other 
acts that he may deem necessary or advisable to make effective or implement the intent 
and purposes of the foregoing resolution, and any such documents so executed shall be 
conclusive evidence of his authority in doing so. 

Adjournment 

The Chair said that the next meeting of the Committee would be on July 9, 2014 at 7:30a.m., at which 
time the Committee would receive the results of the first half year's operations. The Chair inquired as to 
whether there would be an approval requested for an annual capital expense budget, and Mr. Chhabra said 
that the capital budget was reviewed and developed at the system level on a quarterly basis, with 
allocations to the regional hospitals. 
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There being no further business to come before the meeting, the same on motion duly made and 
seconded, was adjourned. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Michael J. Meehan 
Recording Secretary 

. ----------·------------·----------------·-------------------------···--·---·-·-----------------------------·------------------·------
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Trustees Present: 

Others Attending: 

LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

MAY 6, 2014 

Thomas J. Gable, Chair, James Bekeny, MD (via telephone conference), M. Ellen 
Brzytwa, RN MSN MPH, Kathleen T. McGorray, PhD 

Michael J. Meehan, Esq., and Shannan Ritchie 

Pursuant to due notice a Special Meeting of the Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees of 
Lakewood Hospital Association was held on Tuesday, May 6, 2014, at 3:00p.m. The meeting was 
conducted in the Board Room, Lakewood Hospital, 14519 Detroit Avenue, Lakewood, Ohio. Dr. 
Bekeny participated by telephone conference; all participants could hear and be heard by all other 
participants. The Trustees designated above as present, constituting a quorum, were in attendance. 

Mr. Gable opened the meeting by welcoming those in attendance and thanking them for participating in the 
Special Meeting. He stated that the purpose of the Special Meeting, as set forth in the Meeting Notice and 
Agenda, was to consider a recommendation to dissolve Westlake Imaging, LLC, approve the enterprise-wide 
policy approval process, and receive an update on a physician matter. 

Dissolution of Westlake Imaging, LLC 

Mr. Gable called upon Mr. Meehan, who stated that the Lakewood Hospital Association Finance & Audit 
Committee had recommended the dissolution of Westlake Imaging, LLC from a financial standpoint, and 
had referred the matter to the Executive Committee for a recommendation to the full Board of Trustees. The 
Board of Directors of Fairview Hospital had approved the dissolution of the joint venture at its most recent 
meeting. Mr. Ritchie then provided the business rationale for the dissolution of the entity. He said that 
Westlake Imaging, LLC was a limited liability corporation that had been formed as a joint venture between 
Lakewood Hospital Association and Fairview Hospital. He said that patient volume and related income had 
recently dropped and there was not an expectation of recovering that volume. He said that the equipment in 
the venture was nearing the end of its useful life. He also said that it was anticipated that rental income to 
Lakewood Hospital Association as lessor of the space used by the joint venture would continue to be realized 
from the location. He said that Lakewood Hospital Association would benefit by approximately $135,000 
(EBIDA) per year by closing the operation, which was housed at Lakewood Hospital Association's Westlake 
Campus at 850 Columbia Road. 

Following a general discussion, on motion duly made and seconded, the Executive Committee unanimously 
adopted the following Resolution, recommending that the Board of Trustees approve the dissolution of 
Westlake Imaging, LLC: 
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WHEREAS, Fairview Hospital ("Fairview") and Lakewood Hospital Association ("Lakewood") are 
the only Members of CCHS Westlake Imaging, LLC (the "Company"), and entered into an 
Operating Agreement in connection therewith; 

WHEREAS, the management of Fairview and Lakewood have determined and recommend that the 
operations of the Company shoulrl he discontinued as such and that the Company should be wound 
up and dissolved; 

WHEREAS, to facilitate and efficiently administer the winding up of the Company and its 
dissolution, Lakewood and Fairview have the right with respect to the Company as Members to 
appoint and replace governing Board members; 

WHEREAS, corresponding Resolutions authorizing the actions described below with respect to 
Lakewood have been adopted by the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors of Fairview; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Finance & Audit Committee of the Lakewood Board of Trustees has recommended 
from a financial standpoint that the Board adopt the Resolutions below and further referred the 
matter to the Executive Committee for a recommendation to the Board of Trustees; 

BE IT RESOLVED that the Executive Committee recommends that the Board of Trustees adopt the 
following Resolutions: 

BE IT RESOLVED that Lakewood elects and consents to the dissolution of the Company pursuant 
to Sec. 14 of the aforementioned Operating Agreement; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that Michael P. Harrington is hereby appointed as the Sole 
Director of the Company effective as of the date of the adoption of these Resolutions; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that such Director is authorized for and on behalf and in the name 
of the Company to negotiate, certifY, deliver, file and record any and all certificates, documents and 
instruments and do or cause to be done any and all such other acts that he may deem necessary or 
advisable to make effective or implement the intent and purposes of the foregoing Resolutions, and 
any such documents so executed shall be conclusive evidence of his authority in doing so. 

Policy Approval Process 

Mr. Gable then called upon Mr. Meehan to introduce the resolution regarding the policy approval process. 
Mr. Meehan said that the Cleveland Clinic and all of its regional locations were in the process of adopting an 
enterprise-wide policy that clarified the manner in which policies and related documents would be reviewed 
and approved within the Cleveland Clinic enterprise. He said that the policy provided definitions for what a 
policy was, what a procedure was, what a standard operating procedure was, and so on. He indicated that 
certain policies would be presented to the Medical Executive Committee for review and approval. He said 
that all documents that were required by a government or regulatory body would be presented to the Board 
of Trustees for approval. 
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Following a general discussion, on motion duly made and seconded, the Executive Committee unanimously 
adopted the Resolution marked Exhibit A, attached hereto and made part hereof. 

Update on Physician Matter 

Mr. Gable then called upon Mr. Ritchie to provide an update regarding the physic.iHn matter that was 
discussed at the Annual Meeting of the Board of Trustees on February 19, 2014. Mr. Gable said that the 
Board, as a part of its action, had requested that a follow-up report be delivered to the Executive Committee. 
Mr. Ritchie then indicated that the physician had accepted the suspension that had been proposed and had 
signed the Last Chance Agreement, and that all other aspects of the Board's action had been agreed to and 
were in process. Dr. Bekeny concurred that the physician seemed accepting of the Board's actions taken. A 
general discussion followed. 

There being no further business to come before the meeting, the same, on motion duly made and seconded, 
was adjourned. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Michael J. Meehan 
Secretary 
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EXHIBIT A 

TO THE MINUTES OF THE 

Confidential 

SPECIAL MEETING OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF 

LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 

RESOLUTIONS 

OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF 
THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF 

LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 

REGARDING THE APPROVAL BY THE GOVERNING BOARD OF 
LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 

OF CERTAIN POLICIES AND OTHER DOCUMENTS 

MAY 6, 2014 

WHEREAS, the Cleveland Clinic has adopted the Document Management Policy attached 
hereto as part of an enterprise-wide policy to address the manner in which certain policies should be 
approved by the governing boards within the Cleveland Clinic enterprise; and 

WHEREAS, the Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees is desirous of 
implementing the process utilized within the Cleveland Clinic enterprise; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Executive Committee hereby adopts 
the Document Management Policy, as amended from time to time by the Cleveland Clinic, attached 
hereto as applicable to the Cleveland Clinic Community Hospitals; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Executive Committee authorizes the President of 
the Cleveland Clinic Community Hospitals to approve such additional procedures, processes, and 
actions as may be necessary to comply with the requirements of the aforementioned Policy; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Chief of Staff of Lakewood Hospital be requested 
to take such actions felt to be reasonably necessary in order to give effect to the above Resolutions. 
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Document Management Policy 

Target Group: Original Date of 
Issue: 

Cleveland Clinic- United States locations 

Not Set 
Approved by: Date Last Prepared by: 

Approved/Reviewed: 

Board of Directors, 03/12/2014 
Bock, Lois (DIR 

BOG/MEC POLICY OFFICE) 

Confidential 

Version 

1 

Effective Date 

06/01/2014 

Printed copies are for reference only. Please refer to the electronic copy for the 
latest version. 

Purpose 
To define the standardized process for development, approval, and management of one of the six 
Cleveland Clinic approved document types: policy, procedure, standard operating procedure 
(SOP), directive, protocol, and guideline. (From this point forward, use of the word document will 
represent these six document types.) 

Policy Statement 
Cleveland Clinic will develop clear and consistent documents to support its mission, vision, core 
values, and strategic objectives. These documents will be developed, reviewed, and approved by 
individuals possessing the proper expertise and authority. 

Definitions 
Approved Document Types and Definitions 
Policy: a mandatory, high level overall standard to establish a course of action toward 
organization and/or enterprise-wide accepted strategies and objectives. 
Procedure: provides detail on how to implement an existing policy. 
Standard Operating Procedure (SOP): a set of instructions to carry out a required activity or 
process not tied to an existing policy or procedure. 
Protocol: a system of actions that directs a clinical course in specifically defined situations or 
treatments. 
Directive: an authoritative statement for a defined target group of what to do or not do in a 
specific situation, issued by an appropriate person or body. 
Guideline: a suggested best practice which sets out processes to follow in a particular set of 
circumstances to reach certain quality outcomes. Guidelines are not mandatory. 

Cleveland Clinic United States locations (CCUS): Main Campus, Family Health Centers, 
physician practice sites, Children's Rehabilitation Hospital, and Las Vegas practice sites. 
Community Hospitals (Euclid, Fairview, Hillcrest, Lakewood, Lutheran, Marymount, Medina and 
South Pointe), and Florida. 
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Policy and Procedure Manager (PPM): The IT application used to manage Cleveland Clinic 
documents 

Policy Implementation 
1. Document Development 

• Confirm Document type 
o Standardized Document Types and Definitions 

• Select Standardized Document Template 
o Policy Template 
o Procedure Template 
o Guideline Template 
o SOP Template 
o .QJrective Template 
o Nursing Institute Protocol Template 

• Utilize Policy and Procedure Manager (PPM) platform. This is required for all 
documents except those managed in the Lab OMS or HR Enwisen platforms. 

2. Document Approval 
• Obtain appropriate local approval based upon defined target group/audience 

• Secure approval by the Governing Body for any document required by a government or 
regulatory body (See Main Campus Approval Process- Appendix A ) 

3. Document Review 
• All documents must be reviewed and approved every three years, or as required to 

meet current and/or new regulations. 

Oversight and Responsibility 
The Policy Office is responsible to review, revise, update, and operationalize this policy. 

It is the responsibility of each hospital, institute, department and discipline to implement the policy 
and to draft and operationalize related procedures to the policy if applicable. 

Other Background Information 
Created by: Policy Strategy & Implementation Standardization Team 
Issuing Office: Policy Office 

··············-····-···-········ ················-························-·········· ············--······-···-·-····--·"" ···-····•,-···-----····· " -----------··-·--·· •... ---·""··--·-··········· 
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Lakewood Hospital 
a Cleveland Clinic hospital 

Attendance 

LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 

MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL MEETING OF THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

MAY 14,2014 

Trustees Present: Thomas J. Gable (Chair of the Board), M. Ellen Brzytwa, RN, MSN, MPH (Vice 
Chair of the Board), James R. Bekeny, MD, David L. Bronson, MD, Curtis M. Brosky, Carl A. Culley, Jr. 
MD, Rev. Jon M. Fancher, DMin, Richard B. Freeman, MD, Joseph P. Gibbons, Esq., William R. Gorton, 
Kenneth Haber, CPA, John Litten, Kathleen T. McGorray, PhD, Rebecca Patton, MSN, RN, Gary R. 
Pritts, Dennis J. Roche, Hon. Michael P. Summers, and Mousab I. Tabbaa, MD. 

Administration Present: David Bronson, MD (President, Lakewood Hospital), Ankit Chhabra (Finance 
Director), James Crandell, MD (Chief of Staff), Cynthia Deyling, MD, (Chief Administrative Officer), 
Michael Harrington (Chief Accounting Officer, CCF), Michael J. Meehan, Esq. (General Counsel, 
Regional Hospitals), William J. Riebel, MD (Vice President, Medical Operations), Shannan D. Ritchie 
(Interim Hospital President, Chief Operating Officer), Mary Sauer, MBA, BSN, RN (Chief Nursing 
Officer), Deborah Sukey (Executive Assistant), and Karen Weisman (Quality Director). 

Call to Order 

Pursuant to due notice, the Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees of Lakewood Hospital Association 
("LHA"), dba Lakewood Hospital, a Cleveland Clinic Hospital, was held on Wednesday, May 14, 2014, 
at 4:00 p.m. in Wasmer Auditorium at Lakewood Hospital, 14519 Detroit Avenue, Lakewood, Ohio. 
The aforementioned members of the Board of Trustees, constituting a quorum, were present. Mr. Gable 
chaired the meeting and Mr. Meehan served as Recording Secretary. 

Mr. Gable called the meeting to order. He welcomed all in attendance and thanked them for their 
participation. 

CHAIR'S REPORT 

Minutes of February 19, 2014 Meeting of the Board of Trustees and March 6 and May 6, 2014 
Meetings of the Executive Committee 

Mr. Gable then reviewed the minutes of the Annual Meeting of the Board of Trustees of Lakewood 
Hospital Association held on February 19, 2014, and the minutes of the meetings of the Executive 
Committee of the Board of Trustees of Lakewood Hospital Association held on March 6 and May 6, 
2014, copies of which had been distributed in advance. 

Tab 1 - 1 
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A general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the minutes were unanimously 
approved as distributed, and the acts described therein were ratified as acts of Lakewood Hospital 
Association. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

Mr. Gable then reviewed the Consent Agenda. 

He reported that the minutes of the meeting of the Community Advisory Council held on April 3, 2014 
were provided as information along with the March 31, 2014 system report presented by Dr. Donley. Mr. 
Gable called upon Mr. Ritchie to present a Community Advisory update. Mr. Ritchie reported the 
Community Advisory Council had met on April 3. He then highlighted the North Coast Health update. 
Mr. Gable noted that the following item was presented for approval: 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Community Advisory Council held on April 
3, 2014 is accepted for information. 

Mr. Gable then called upon Mr. Ritchie to present the resolution regarding the dissolution and wind up of 
CCHS Westlake Imaging Center, LLC. Mr. Gable said that the proposed dissolution of CCHS Westlake 
Imaging Center had been approved by the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors of Fairview 
Hospital and had been reviewed by both the Executive Committee and the Finance and Audit Committee 
of Lakewood Hospital Association. The minutes of the Executive Committee of LHA on May 6, 2014, 
approved and ratified earlier in the meeting, described the approval of the dissolution, and Mr. Gable 
requested separate and specific approval of the dissolution by the full Board. At Mr. Gable's request, Mr. 
Ritchie reported that the Westlake Imaging Center located at 850 Columbia Road was a jointly owned 
venture between Fairview and Lakewood Hospitals. The center housed both CT and MR imaging 
modalities and that in recent years it experienced declining volume and revenue. Due to aging equipment 
and the need for its replacement a study had been conducted of local Cleveland Clinic facilities. Mr. 
Ritchie reported that after reviewing the study the management of Fairview and Lakewood hospitals 
determined and recommended that the operations of CCHS Westlake Imaging Center, LLC should be 
discontinued as such and that the company should be wound up and dissolved. He proposed the 
following resolution that had already been approved by the Executive Committee: 

WHEREAS, Fairview Hospital ("Fairview") and Lakewood Hospital Association 
("Lakewood") are the only Members of CCHS Westlake Imaging, LLC (the 
"Company"), and entered into an Operating Agreement in connection therewith; 

WHEREAS, the management of Fairview and Lakewood have determined and 
recommend that the operations of the Company should be discontinued as such and that 
the Company should be wound up and dissolved; 

WHEREAS, to facilitate and efficiently administer the winding up of the Company and 
its dissolution, Lakewood and Fairview have the right with respect to the Company as 
Members to appoint and replace governing Board members; 

Tab 1 - 2 
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WHEREAS, a corresponding resolution authorizing the actions described below with 
respect to Lakewood has been adopted by the Executive Committee of the Board of 
Directors ofFairview; 

WHF.RF,AS, the Finance and Audit Committee and Executive Committee of Lakewood 
Hospital Association have recommended that the Board of Trustees adopt the following 
Resolutions; 

BE IT RESOLVED that Lakewood elects and consents to the dissolution of the 
Company pursuant to Sec. 14 of the aforementioned Operating Agreement; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that Michael P. Harrington is hereby appointed as the 
Sole Director of the Company effective as of the date of the adoption of these 
Resolutions; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that such Director is authorized for and on behalf and 
in the name of the Company to negotiate, certify, deliver, file and record any and all 
certificates, documents and instruments and do or cause to be done any and all such other 
acts that he may deem necessary or advisable to make effective or implement the intent 
and purposes of the foregoing resolution, and any such documents so executed shall be 
conclusive evidence of his authority in doing so. 

Mr. Gable asked if any of the items shown on the Consent Agenda portion of the meeting agenda should 
be extracted for a detailed discussion or presentation later in the meeting, whereupon, no items were 
extracted from the agenda. 

On motion duly made and seconded, the aforementioned Resolutions for items shown on the 
Consent Agenda were unanimously adopted. 

MANAGEMENT REPORT 

Hospital Report 

Mr. Gable then called upon Mr. Ritchie to provide the Hospital Report. Mr. Ritchie called upon Ms. 
Sauer, Chief Nursing Officer to provide the patient experience report. Ms. Sauer reported that patient 
experience metrics were not where the hospital wanted to be but that metrics were trending in the right 
direction. 

Ms. Sauer stated that as good stewards of the hospital, salary and wages continued to reflect staff flexing 
to volumes. More recently staff flexibility had included floating to other Cleveland Clinic facilities as 
volume demanded. Ms. Sauer concluded her report stating that overall adjusted length of stay was the 
best in the health system due to the Care Coordination leadership and Dr. J. Snyder. 
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Mr. Ritchie reported that Dr. Cosgrove had recently challenged the Hospital Presidents to eliminate 
"never events". He then gave the example of Toyota's "Stop the Line, Pull the Cord" that empowered 
employees to express a concern. Mr. Ritchie reported that the hospital had begun an I Have a Concern 
campaign and that staff education forums would be held May 27-29. Next Mr. Ritchie reported that he 
found the most engaging of all events held was that of the Lakewood Hospital Foundation Ambulance 
Chase. The event engaged all hospital departments though a grant process including event participation. 
Mr. Ritchie thanked Mr. Gibbons for his leadership and that of his co-chair Mr. Geiger who both would 
relinquish roles at the end of May. 

Mr. Gable then called upon Dr. Bronson to provide his report. Dr. Bronson reported that healthcare 
continues the cycle of challenging times and that he had developed a Top 10 list of what keeps hospital 
management up at night, including transition to an unknown and untested payment system based on 
"value", continuing decline of inpatient volumes, high deductible health plans, and expiration of the 
Medicaid Primary Care Supplemental Payment. 

QUALITY COMMITTEE 

Mr. Gable then called upon Ms. Weisman to present the Quality Committee report. She reported that the 
Executive Quality Council had met on three occasions and that the minutes thereof had been included in 
the Board materials distributed in advance of the meeting. Additionally included in the meeting materials 
presented were the 2013 Regional Hospital Quality Board Report for the Cleveland Clinic enterprise and 
Lakewood Hospital, and the Ombudsman Complaints and Grievances Report. She reported that the Ohio 
Department of Health acting on behalf of the Centers for Medicare Medicaid Systems (CMS) had 
returned for a revalidation survey and found that all deficient actions had been corrected and that no new 
deficiencies had been found. The hospital awaits a letter stating requirements were met and that the 
hospital had returned to deemed status. 

Mr. Gable then called upon Ms. Brzytwa and Rev. Fancher to offer comments on quality reporting at the 
Board level. Ms. Brzytwa reported that the trustees continue to feel welcomed at the hospital Executive 
Quality Council meetings and acknowledged leadership for time spent ensuring the trustees had a 
thorough and complete understanding of processes. Rev. Fancher seconded Ms. Brzytwa's statement 
stating that the Executive Quality Council meetings are treated as an educational process. 

MEDICAL STAFF REPORT 

The Chair then stated that the Board would receive a report from the Medical Staff. Credentialing actions 
were submitted by Dr. Culley for ratification and included new appointments and the granting of clinical 
privileges, reappointments of two-year terms, granting of additional privileges to current members of the 
Medical Staff, leaves of absence, and acceptance of resignation actions taken through the expedited 
credentialing process conducted on March 3, April 7 and May 5, 2014. 

A general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the Board of Trustees 
unanimously ratified the aforementioned credentialing and privileging actions of March, April and May 
2014. 
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FINANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 
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The Chair then called upon Mr. Haber to deliver a report from the Finance and Audit Committee. Mr. 
Haber reported that the Finance and Audit Committee had met on May 1, 2014 and that the minutes of that 
meeting had been provided in advance. He reported that the primary purpose of the meeting was to review 
the Audited Financial Statements of Lakewood Hospital Association for years ended December 31, 2013 
and 2012 and thereof were provided to the trustees. It was reported that the audit was a clean opinion. 

Mr. Haber then called upon Mr. Chhabra who would summarize the April 2014 financial summary. Mr. 
Chhabra reported that the Q 1 2014 financial summary had been provided in advance of the meeting and 
that April month-end had closed within the prior week. Mr. Chhabra then reviewed key points including 
net patient revenue above plan (below 2013); overall activity below plan (and below 2013) including 
inpatient surgical and rehab volumes per plan, ED volume (including treat and release and admissions) 
below plan, and outpatient surgeries below plan; operating expenses overall slightly positive to budget 
(significantly below last year), wage base productivity at 1101.6% through March; and favorable operating 
results compared to plan (below last year). 

A general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the Board of Trustees 
unanimously accepted the recommendation of the Finance and Audit Committee and accepted as 
information the Finance Report as presented for the period ending April2014. 

Mr. Haber also reported the committee had reviewed the proposed dissolution of CCHS Westlake Imaging 
Center, LLC and had recommended the dissolution from a financial stand point and had further 
recommended that the dissolution be approved by the Executive Committee before it was presented to the 
Board of Trustees. 

A general discussion followed and on motion duly made and seconded, the Board of Trustees unanimously 
accepted the recommendations of the Finance and Audit Committee as described in the minutes of its 
meeting on May 1, 2014 and approved the Audited Financial Statements of Lakewood Hospital 
Association for years ended December 31,2013 and 2012. 

LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL FOUNDATION REPORT 

Mr. Gable then asked Mr. Haber to report on the Lakewood Hospital Foundation report of May 6, 2014, a 
copy of which had been distributed to the Trustees in advance. Mr. Haber asked that the trustees consider 
support of Starry Night the evening of August 1. Starry Night, one of two annual fundraisers for the 
hospital, brings the community together to make a difference in the fight against diabetes. 

STEP TWO COMMITTEE REPORT 

Mr. Gable stated that the Board would receive a report from the Step Two Committee that had been 
established for the review of future planning. He called upon Mr. Meehan who requested that the Board 
go into executive session, whereupon all non-Board members were excused, except for Messer's. 
Harrington, Ritchie, Chhabra, and himself. 
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As in prior meetings, Mr. Meehan requested that the board adopt the resolution shown below. A general 
discussion followed and, on motion duly made and second, the Board of Trustees closed the meeting by 
unanimously adopting the following resolution: 

RESOLVED: that the LHA Board of Trustees hereby closes the meeting in accordance with Sec. 
4.10 of the Code of Regulations of LHA because public discussion or action would be detrimental 
to the interests of the patients of Lakewood Hospital or the welfare of the residents of the City of 
Lakewood or Lakewood Hospital. 

A general discussion followed. 

There being no further business to be conducted in executive or closed session, the same, on motion duly 
made and seconded, was adjourned, and the meeting was no longer in executive session or closed in 
accordance with Sec. 4.10 of the Code of Regulations. 

EXTRACTED ITEMS FROM CONSENT AGENDA 

No items had been extracted from the Consent Agenda. 

ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to come before the meeting, the same, on motion duly made and 
seconded, was adjourned. 

Michael J. Meehan, Esq. 
Recording Secretary 
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LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING OF THE FINANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE 

Present: 

Administration: 

JULY9, 2014 

Kenneth Haber (Chair), Curtis M. Brosky, Thomas J. Gable, David M. Lesjak, 
Dennis J. Roche, James R. Vine (life member) 

Ankit Chhabra, CliffCrell, Michael P. Harrington, Michael J. Meehan, Esq., 
Shannan Ritchie 

Pursuant to due notice, a meeting of the Finance & Audit Committee of the Lakewood Hospital 
Association Board of Trustees was held on Wednesday, July 9, 2014 at 7:30a.m. in the Board Room at 
Lakewood Hospital, 14519 Detroit A venue, Lakewood, Ohio. The aforementioned members of the 
Finance & Audit Committee designated as present were in attendance. Mr. Haber chaired the meeting 
and Mr. Meehan served as recording secretary. 

Mr. Haber opened the meeting by thanking those in attendance for attending. He stated that the meeting 
schedule would include a review of the 2014 Financial Statements, a Financial Update, and an update on 
cost repositioning opportunities. 

Approval of Minutes 

Mr. Haber asked the Committee to review the minutes of the meeting held on May 1, 2014. A general 
discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the Finance & Audit Committee 
unanimously accepted as accurate the minutes of the meeting of the Finance & Audit Committee held on 
May 1, 2014, which had been previously approved by the Board of Trustees on May 14,2014. 

Review ofYTD May 2014 Financial Update 

The Chair then called upon Mr. Chhabra, who provided the following key points for May 2014 year-to
date. He said that net patient revenues had been consistent with 2014 plan (but below the revenue from 
2013). He said that overall activity had been below plan for 2014 (and below activity levels for 2013), 
and he particularly mentioned that Non Acute volume was below plan and that was driven by skilled 
nursing facility and psychiatric patients. He also said that Emergency Department Volumes (both treat 
and release as well as admissions) had been below plan, and that outpatient and inpatient surgeries had 
been below plan. 

Mr. Chhabra stated that operating expenses had been slightly overall unfavorable to budget and that 
wage-base productivity had been at 101.0%. He said that the operating results had been favorable in 
comparison to the 2014 plan, but below the results from the prior year. 

Mr. Chhabra then reviewed the hospital financial statements in detail for May 2014 year-to-date. He 
reviewed the Revenue, Expense, and EBIDA, indicating that EBIDA was unfavorable to plan by 13.3% 
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year-to-date. Mr. Chhabra stated that the following had positive budget variances: Net Revenue Volume, 
Bad Debt, Charity and Denials; and other revenue. He said that this positive EBIDA variance was offset 
by unfavorable budget EBIDA variances in the following areas: Salaries and Wages, Supplies and 
Pharmacy, Purchased and Administrative Services, and Facilities and Insurance. He reviewed key patient 
statistical indicators as well. 

He provided a 2014 forecast based on May 2014 year-to-date. In particular, he indicated that the May 
2014 year-to-date actual plus the 7-months budget yielded an EBIDA of $6.621Million, which was in 
comparison to a budgeted 2014 EBIDA of$5.020Million. 

Cost Repositioning Update 

The Chair then called upon Mr. Ritchie to provide an update on cost repos1t10ning mitmtlves for 
Lakewood Hospital. Mr. Ritchie first reported on recent personnel reductions in the Cleveland Clinic 
Laboratories enterprise-wide. Mr. Ritchie updated the Committee on Security and Emergency 
Management, continued Lab Consolidation and the Select Medical Partnership. 

With respect to pricing transparency, Mr. Ritchie indicated that laboratory and imaging services were 
"shoppables" that consumers would be more alert to in the future. He and Mr. Harrington described the 
status of negotiations with Medical Mutual of Ohio and Anthem, describing timing differences in revenue 
expectations. Mr. Harrington indicated that the enterprise had placed an adjustment mechanism for 
reporting purposes to address these issues. 

Mr. Harrington indicated that 1 in 4-5 patients in Ohio will be covered by Medicaid and that many of 
these new Medicaid patients had been self-pay patients currently and in the past. He indicated that this 
was resulting in a decline of the bad debt rate and that the afore mentioned adjustment was implemented 
to address this phenomenon. He said that the Clinic was estimating that 45% of current self-pay patients 
would be covered by Medicaid going forward. 

Mr. Ritchie also discussed the recent announcement by the Clinic involving an affiliation with Select 
Medical. A general discussion followed during which the Committee members discussed with 
management the impact of this affiliation upon the rehabilitation unit at Lakewood Hospital. 

Adjournment 

The Chair said that the next meeting of the Committee would be on October 23, 2014 at 7:30 a.m., at 
which time the Committee would receive the results of the Third Quarter YTD operations. 

There being no further business to come before the meeting, the same on motion duly made and 
seconded, was adjourned. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Michael J. Meehan 
Recording Secretary 
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Lakewood Hospital 
a Cleveland Clinic hospital 

Attendance 

LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

JULY 30,2014 

Trustees Present: Thomas J. Gable (Chair ofthe Board), James R. Bekeny, MD, David L. Bronson, MD 
(President, Lakewood Hospital), Curtis M. Brosky, Councilman Tom Bullock, Thomas J. Coury, Carl A. 
Culley, Jr. MD, Rev. Jon M. Fancher, DMin, Richard B. Freeman, MD, Joseph P. Gibbons, Esq., William 
R. Gorton, Kenneth Haber, CPA, John Litten, Councilwoman Mary Louise Madigan, John T. O'Neill, 
Rebecca Patton, MSN, RN, Gary R. Pritts, Dennis J. Roche, and Hon. Michael P. Summers. 

Administration Present: Ankit Chhabra (Finance Director), James Crandell, MD (Chief of Staff), 
Cynthia Deyling, MD, (Vice President, Regional Medical Affairs and Quality), Michael Harrington 
(Chief Accounting Officer, CCF), J. Stephen Jones, MD, (Vice President of Medical Operations, 
Regional Hospitals), Michael J. Meehan, Esq. (General Counsel, Regional Hospitals), William J. Riebel, 
MD (Vice President, Medical Operations), Shannan D. Ritchie (Interim Hospital President, Chief 
Operating Officer), Mary Sauer, MBA, BSN, RN (Chief Nursing Officer), Deborah Sukey (Executive 
Assistant), and Karen Weisman (Quality Director). 

Call to Order 

Pursuant to due notice, a Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees of Lakewood Hospital Association 
("LHA"), dba Lakewood Hospital, a Cleveland Clinic Hospital, was held on Wednesday, July 30, 2014, 
at 4:08 p.m. in Wasmer Auditorium at Lakewood Hospital, 14519 Detroit Avenue, Lakewood, Ohio. 
The aforementioned members of the Board of Trustees, constituting a quorum, were present. Mr. Gable 
chaired the meeting and Mr. Meehan served as Recording Secretary. 

Mr. Gable called the meeting to order. He welcomed all in attendance and thanked them for their 
participation. 

CHAIR'S REPORT 

Minutes of May 14, 2014 Meeting of the Board of Trustees 

Mr. Gable then reviewed the minutes of the Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees of Lakewood 
Hospital Association held on May 14, 2014, copies of which had been distributed in advance. 

A general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the minutes were unanimously 
approved as distributed, and the acts described therein were ratified as acts of Lakewood Hospital 
Association. 
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CONSENT AGENDA 

Mr. Gable then reviewed the Consent Agenda. 

Confidential 

He reported that the minutes of the meeting of the Community Advisory Council held on June 26, 2014 
were provided as mtormation along with the July 29, 2014 system report presented by Dr. Donley. Mr. 
Gable reported that Dr. McGorray was unable to participate in today's meeting and that anyone having 
questions regarding the Community Advisory Council may call upon Mr. Ritchie, Ms. Sauer or Ms. 
Sukey who were attendance at the Advisory Council meeting of June 26. Mr. Gable noted that the 
following item was presented for approval: · 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Community Advisory Council held on June 
26, 2014 is accepted for information. 

Mr. Gable asked if any of the items shown on the Consent Agenda portion of the meeting agenda should 
be extracted for a detailed discussion or presentation later in the meeting, whereupon, no items were 
extracted from the agenda. 

On motion duly made and seconded, the aforementioned Resolutions for items shown on the 
Consent Agenda were unanimously adopted. 

MANAGEMENT REPORT 

Hospital Report 

Mr. Gable then called upon Mr. Ritchie to provide the Hospital Report. Mr. Ritchie called upon Ms. 
Sauer, Chief Nursing Officer to provide the patient experience report. Ms. Sauer reported that patient 
experience metrics were reviewed monthly by the Nursing Institute in overall and individual domains. For 
the month of April the hospital was awarded the trophy for the highest ratio of 100% in core measures 
and greatest improvement in HCAHPS scores. 

Ms. Sauer next reported that each year the Patient Experience Institute hosts a summit. This year, nursing 
was honored to have Ms. Patton as the keynote speaker presenting Transforming Healthcare: the Voice of 
Nursing at the fifth annual Patient Experience: Empathy & Innovation Summit. The summit drew more 
than 2,100 people, including attendees from 49 states and 39 countries. Ms. Sauer gave accolades to Ms. 
Patton for the release her book Nurses Making Policy from Bedside to Boardroom later in the fall of 
2014. 

Mr. Ritchie reported that the survey company HealthStream who recognizes hospitals that excel in their 
ability to gain insight into their patients, employees, physicians and community through research and use 
that information to build excellence within their organization. Mr. Ritchie stated he was pleased to 
announce that HealthStream had recognized the hospital for overall physician satisfaction rating - most 
improved since the previous survey. 

He next provided an update to the I Have a Concern initiative stating that as an organization the hospital 
caregivers continue to tweak the program and that most recently had added an E-mail address box where 

---·-··----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ----
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all caregivers can express their concerns in a safe environment. The e-mail address establishes a process 
to monitor the success, and for quality and tracking proposes. 

Mr. Ritchie next provided an update on Cost Repositioning (newly renamed Fiscal Responsibility) 
reporting that this initiative is really a reflection of the way we deliver healthcare by doing more with less 
and creating efficiencies. He stated that as a health system we will continue to do some things as leaders 
and others in tandem as a partnership with those that are the best. He then provided an example of the 
partnership with the Cleveland Clinic Police and Universal Protective Services for security services. It 
was reported that Lakewood City Police currently rotate shifts in the Emergency Department. In the near 
future this service will transition to a Cleveland Clinic Peace Officer who will provide 24/7 service. 
Partnerships and the creating of efficiencies such as with the announcement of the elimination of 
laboratory managers across the health system are just some of the initiatives to improve quality and 
decrease costs. Hospitals will also see some services transition to Cleveland Clinic main campus as 
management continues to implement efficiencies. Mr. Ritchie reported that more recently the Cleveland 
Clinic had signed an agreement with Select Medical which would manage Lakewood Hospital's Rehab 
Unit, and that through this joint venture Select Medical would also construct a 60-bed Rehab Hospital 
near the Avon Campus. Select Medical, a leader in rehabilitation services, currently managed 120 
hospitals throughout the United States. Select was ranked 2nd by U.S. and World Reports in its category. 
The agreement was slated to take effect on August 1, 2014 and the hospital would open in 2015. 
Lakewood Hospital employees will have the option of relocating to the hospital in Avon. A select 
number of caregivers are participating in the Select Medical hospital design. A general discussion 
followed including the negative impact of approximately $1.6 million to the hospital bottom line. The 
trustees acknowledged the challenges facing the Hospital and the industry and that difficult decisions 
must be made, being mindful that trustees must remain mindful of what is best for patients while 
remaining fiscally and fiduciary responsible. Dr. Bronson provided accolades to Mr. Ritchie and his team 
for their very effective leadership. 

QUALITY COMMITTEE 

Mr. Gable then called upon Ms. Weisman to present the Quality Committee report. She reported that the 
Executive Quality Council had met on two occasions and that the minutes thereof had been included in 
the Board materials distributed in advance of the meeting. Ms. Weisman then highlighted areas in which 
the hospital did not meet established targets. Ms. Weisman called upon Ms. Sauer who reported that 
often management invites guests to speak at the Employee Forums and that recently caregivers had the 
opportunity to hear directly from a family where the hospital did not meet the patient and family 
expectations. This provided a learning opportunity for the caregivers to hear and see how these 
expectations were not met. 

MEDICAL STAFF REPORT 

The Chair then stated that the Board would receive a report from the Medical Staff. Credentialing actions 
were submitted by Dr. Culley for ratification and included new appointments and the granting of clinical 
privileges, reappointments of two-year terms, granting of additional privileges to current members of the 
Medical Staff, leaves of absence, and acceptance of resignation actions taken through the expedited 
credentialing process conducted on June 2 and July 7, 2014. 

Lakewood Hospital Association Executive Committee Meeting 3/18/2015 251 of 746 Lakewood Hospital Association Executive Com ... 



Lakewood Hospital Association 
Regular Meeting ofthe Board of Trustees 
July 30, 2014 
Page4 

Confidential 

A general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the Board of Trustees 
unanimously ratified the aforementioned credentialing and privileging actions of June and July 2014. 

FINANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The Chair then called upon Mr. Haber to deliver a report from the Finance and Audit Committee. Mr. 
Haber reported that the Finance and Audit Committee had met on July 9, 2014 and that the minutes of that 
meeting had been provided in advance. 

Mr. Haber then called upon Mr. Chhabra who would summarize the June 2014 financial summary. Mr. 
Chhabra reported that the Second Quarter 2014 financial summary had been provided in advance of the 
meeting and that the June financial records had closed within the prior week. Mr. Chhabra then reviewed 
key points including the net patient revenue below plan (being below that of 2013); overall activity below 
plan (and below 2013) including acute, SNF and Psych volume below plan; outpatient surgeries below 
plan, inpatient surgeries favorable to plan; ED volume (including treat and release and admissions) below 
plan. Operating expenses had been on target with wage-based productivity at 101.7%. Overall operating 
results had been unfavorable compared to plan and prior year. He next reviewed key metrics including 
hospital financials, EBIDA variance from budget, patient statistics, and the 2014 forecast based on year-to
date June 2014. 

A general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the Board of Trustees 
unanimously accepted the recommendation of the Finance and Audit Committee and accepted as 
information the Finance Report as presented for the period ended June 2014. 

Mayor Summers observed that the industry has changed dramatically from the early days of Lakewood 
Hospital. He read from a 1954 historical notice informing patients that room rates were being increased to 
as much as $22 for single rooms. 

LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL FOUNDATION REPORT 

Mr. Gable then asked Mr. Haber to report on the Lakewood Hospital Foundation report of July 15, 2014, 
a copy of which had been distributed to the Trustees in advance. Mr. Haber highlighted items from the 
report including the distribution of 18 grants from the Ambulance Chase grant process, the Celebrate 
Together 4.0 that would be held at the home of Lakewood Hospital Foundation Trustee Nancy Huffman 
on September 30th and that over 550 guests were expected at Starry Night on August 1st. 

STEP TWO COMMITTEE REPORT 

Mr. Gable stated that the Board would receive a report from the Step Two Committee that had been 
established for the review of future planning. He called upon Mr. Meehan who requested that the Board 
go into executive session, whereupon all non-Board members were excused, except for Messrs. 
Harrington, Ritchie, Chhabra, and himself, and Dr. Jones. 
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As in prior meetings, Mr. Meehan requested that the Board adopt the resolution shown below. A general 
discussion followed and, on motion duly made and second, the Board of Trustees closed the meeting by 
unanimously adopting the following resolution: 

RESOLVED: that the LHA Board of Trustees hereby closes the meeting in accordance with Sec. 
4.10 of the Code of Regulations of LHA because public discussion or action would be detrimental 
to the interests of the patients of Lakewood Hospital or the welfare of the residents of the City of 
Lakewood or Lakewood Hospital. 

A general discussion followed. 

There being no further business to be conducted in executive or closed session, the same, on motion duly 
made and seconded, was adjourned, and the meeting was no longer in executive session or closed in 
accordance with Sec. 4.10 of the Code of Regulations. 

EXTRACTED ITEMS FROM CONSENT AGENDA 

No items had been extracted from the Consent Agenda. 

ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to come before the meeting, the same, on motion duly made and 
seconded, was adjourned. 

Michael J. Meehan, Esq. 
Recording Secretary 
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Trustees Present: 

Others Attending: 

LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

August 15, 2014 

Thomas J. Gable, (Chair), David L. Bronson, MD, (President Lakewood Hospital) 
M. Ellen Brzytwa, RN MSN MPH, Kenneth Haber, Kathleen T. McGorray, PhD 

Michael J. Meehan, Esq., and William Riebel, MD 

Pursuant to due notice a Special Meeting of the Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees of 
Lakewood Hospital Association was held on Friday, August 15,2014, at 1:00 p.m. All participants 
joined by telephone conference; all participants could hear and be heard by all other participants. 
The Trustees designated above as present, constituting a quorum, were in attendance. 

Mr. Gable opened the meeting by welcoming those in attendanc-e and thanking them for participfl.tingin the 
Special Meeting. He stated that the purpose of the Special Meeting, as set forth in the Meeting-Notice and 
Agenda, was to consider a recommendation by the Lakewood Hospital Medical Executive Committee to 
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There being no further business to come before the meeting, the same, on motion duly made and seconded, 
was adjourned. 

Respectfully submitted, 

MichaelJ.Meehan 
Secretary 
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[] Lakewood Hospital 
a Cleveland Clinic hospital 

LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE 
LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

SEPTEMRF:R 23, 2014 

Attendance 

Trustees Present: Thomas J. Gable (Chair of the Board), MD, James Bekeny, MD, David L. Bronson, 
MD, M. Ellen Brzytwa, RN, MSN, MPH, Kenneth Haber, CPA, Kathleen McGonay, PhD (by proxy) and 
M. Tabbaa, MD. 

Administration Present: David Bronson, MD (President, Lakewood Hospital), Michael J. Meehan, Esq. 
(General Counsel, Regional Hospitals), William Riebel, MD (Vice President of Medical Operations) and 
Shannan D. Ritchie (Interim Hospital President, Chief Operating Officer), 

Call to Order 

Pursuant to due notice, a Special Meeting of the Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees of 
Lakewood Hospital Association ("LHA"), dba Lakewood Hospital, a Cleveland Clinic Hospital, was held 
on Tuesday, September 23, 2014, at 4:00p.m. via conference call. 

Mr. Gable called the meeting to order. He welcomed all in attendance and thanked them for their 
participation. It was reported that Kathleen McGonay was unable to participate and that she had 
provided her vote in advance of the meeting. All participants could hear and be heard by all other 
participants. The Trustees designated above as present, constituting a quorum, were in 
attendance. 

Mr. Gable then called upon Dr. Riebel and Mr. Meehan to present the matter at hand. 

Dr. Rieble reported that on July 7, 2014, the Lakewood Hospital Executive Committee, on 
recommendation from the Credentialing Committee, had unanimously recommended that the 

- -------- -

- -
- -

·-------------------------------·-·-·------·-------------------------------------------------·-··----···-·----·--·---------------------·-··---··----·---------------
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Mr. Gable reminded the Committee members that the combined Lakewood Hospital Association 
Board of Trustees and the Lakewood Hospital Foundation celebration would be held on 
September 30, 2014 at the home of Foundation member Nancy Huffinan, and the next Lakewood 
Hospital Association Board ofTrustees meeting would be held on October 29, 2014. 

There being no other business to come before the committee, the same, on motion duly made and 
S<?conded, was adjourned. 

Michael J. Meehan, Esq. 
Recording Secretary 
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LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING OF THE FINANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE 

Present: 

Administration: 

OCTOBER 23, 2014 

Kenneth Haber (Chair), Curtis M. Brosky, and David M. Lesjak 

Ankit Chhabra, Michael P. Harrington, Michael J. Meehan, Esq., and Shannan 
Ritchie 

Pursuant to due notice, a meeting of the Finance & Audit Committee of the Lakewood Hospital 
Association Board of Trustees was held on Thursday, October 29, 2014 at 7:30a.m. in the Board Room at 
Lakewood Hospital, 14519 Detroit A venue, Lakewood, Ohio. The aforementioned members of the 
Finance & Audit Committee designated as present were in attendance and constituted a quorum. Mr. 
Haber chaired the meeting and Mr. Meehan served as recording secretary. 

Mr. Haber opened the meeting by thanking those in attendance for attending. He stated that the meeting 
schedule would include a review of the 2014 Financial Statements, a Financial Update, the 2015 
Operating and Capital Budgets, and an update on cost repositioning opportunities. The Committee 
meeting dates for 2015 would also be discussed. 

Approval of Minutes 

Mr. Haber asked the Committee to review the minutes of the meeting held on July 9, 2014. A general 
discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the Finance & Audit Committee 
unanimously accepted as accurate the minutes of the meeting of the Finance & Audit Committee held on 
July 9, 2014, which had been previously approved by the Board of Trustees on July 30, 2014. 

YTD September 2014 Financial Update 

The Chair then called upon Mr. Chhabra, who provided the following key points for September 2014 
year-to-date. First, he indicated that operating revenue was below plan year-to-date and also below 2013 
year-to-date. Second, he commented that overall activity was also below plan and below the prior year. 
Non-acute volume was below plan driven by Rehabilitation volume and Psychiatry volume; outpatient 
and inpatient surgeries were below plan; and emergency department volume (both Treatment & Release 
and Admissions) were below plan. Third, he indicated that operating expenses were overall slightly 
unfavorable to budget and that wage-base productivity had been at 102.3%. Finally, he indicated that the 
operating results had been unfavorable compared to plan and were approximately 50% unfavorable when 
compared to the prior year. 

He reviewed the September year-to-date Lakewood Hospital Financial statements, highlighting that 
EBIDA had been $2.6 million, resulting in an unfavorable budget variance of $2.3 million and 
unfavorable variance from the prior year of $2.4 million. He said that operating loss to date had been $1.8 
million. He then reviewed the various components that comprised the overall variance from budget. Mr. 
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Chhabra and Mr. Harrington indicated that the year-to-date patient statistics indicated a shift from IP to 
observation status, and also the fact that more co-pay/deductible responsibility is being placed on the 
patients, both resulting in lower reimbursement to the hospital industry. 

Mr. Chhabra reviewed the patient statistics year-to-date, indicating that total admissions were down 
ncurly 10% from the prior year, but that total observation cases had incre;:Jseci hy 1 'i%. He said that total 
surgeries had declined by 9.6% and that total ED admissions and Treat & Release patients had declined 
by 4.8%. The (acute only) average daily census was down 10% from prior year. Mr. Ritchie said that the 
average daily census, including observation status patients, was approximately 140-145, and was 120-130 
without observation status patients. 

Mr. Chhabra indicated that the percentage of self-pay patients had declined from 11.6% to 9.2% year-to
date, but that the percent of Medicaid patients had increased from 14% to 18%. The percentage of 
commercial patients had remained constant at approximately 14-15%. 

Mr. Chhabra then reviewed the 2014 forecast based on the year-to-date indicators. He said that the 
budget for the remainder of the year was approximately $2 million but that, based on year-to-date 
performance, the Hospital would very possibly end the year with a range of $3.5 - $4 million in EBIDA. 
He also reviewed the sources and uses of funds for 2014. 

Cost Repositioning Update 

The Chair then called upon Mr. Ritchie to review various cost repositioning projects. First, Mr. Ritchie 
said that an agreement had been reached to sell 21 of Lakewood Hospital's skilled nursing facility bed 
licenses, anticipated to result in approximately $250,000 from the sale of the licenses and approximately 
$300,000 in annual savings. The buyer is Livingston Real Estate Company, which is a subsidiary of 
Legacy Healthcare, a local skilled nursing facility chain. 

Second, Mr. Ritchie indicated that the hospital was evaluating the option to outsource the Teen Health 
Center operations to an entity called Beach Brook, which has a location on Cleveland's eastside and 
would like a West Side presence. Mr. Ritchie said that Beach Brook provided mental health services. He 
said that the name of the organization would remain the same as it was now and the operation would be 
maintained in the City of Lakewood. 

Third, Mr. Ritchie indicated that Westside Imaging LLP, a joint venture between Lakewood Hospital and 
Fairview Hospital that was authorized by the Board of Trustees of both entities for cessation of 
operations, was in the process of winding down. Messrs. Ritchie and Chhabra answered questions about 
the appraisal of equipment and to whom the equipment is being sold. 

Fourth, Mr. Ritchie said that the inpatient hospital rehabilitation services were currently under the 
management of Select Medical, and that Select had entered into a joint venture agreement with Cleveland 
Clinic to establish a 60-bed facility in Avon and that employees of Lakewood Hospital's rehabilitation 
unit would be eligible to apply for positions in the Avon facility. 

Fifth, Mr. Ritchie indicated that the Cleveland Clinic's Pathology and Laboratory Medicine Institute had 
reorganized its mid-level leadership and operations. At the present time, certain significant laboratory 
testing at several regional hospitals was being referred to the laboratory facilities at the Main Campus, 
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and that Lakewood Hospital and the other regional hospitals would be doing so shortly. This represented 
a major initiative within the enterprise to reduce costs and improve the value of laboratory services, and 
Mr. Ritchie discussed the challenges associated with the transition. 

Finally, Mr. Ritchie indicated that security services were being outsourced to Universal Services as had 
been discussed previously ::1t Board meetings. Also, Mr. Ritchie indicated that there were hundreds of 
cost repositioning initiatives underway in the enterprise, and the ones upon which he had reported were 
the ones of major significance. 

2015 Budget Update 

The Chair then called upon Mr. Chhabra to present the 2015 Budget. Mr. Chhabra then presented the 
budget detail for the enterprise and other components for Lakewood Hospital. He reviewed the EBIDA 
trend at Lakewood, indicating that the overall volume reductions were for admissions 5.7%, surgical 
cases 6.6%, ED visits 4.7%, and outpatient visits 0.7%. He described the budgetary effect of the closure 
of the inpatient rehabilitation program. He noted that consolidated expenses had declined from 
approximately $129.1 million in 2012 to a 2015 budgeted projection of $115.6 million due to efficiencies 
but also due to volume reduction. He said that the number of FTEs over the same period was projected to 
decline from 900.9 to 792.0 FTEs. He reviewed the particular efficiencies that were expected, identifying 
salaries and wages, supplies and supply chain savings, and other expenses, totaling efficiencies for 2015 
of approximately $1.3 million. Mr. Chhabra said that the budgeted 2015 EBIDA should appropriately be 
considered as a range due to unfavorable uncertainties involving pricing transparency, regulatory changes 
associated with the State DSH Program and the federal Meaningful Use Program, as well as the favorable 
impacts of the cost repositioning projects. He estimated the 2015 EBIDA budget range from ($1.0) 
million to $2.5 million. Mr. Chhabra discussed the risks associated with the budget assumptions, 
specifically identifying that observation growth could be higher than projected, the uncertainty of ED 
volume, that volume decline may be more than the projection, especially surgical volume, and the 
uncertain timing and impact of regulations. Mr. Chhabra said that a number of open items could also 
affect the budget, such as current corporate planning, final clinical services cost estimates, confirming and 
validating clinical planning and indirect work stream impacts, and the impact of pricing and transparency. 

Infrastructure and Capital Needs 

The Chair then called upon Mr. Ritchie, who reviewed the current and anticipated infrastructure needs for 
Lakewood Hospital. He provided the needs in a ranking format. He said that the highest priority 
involved structural repairs to the parking structure estimated to cost $1.8 million. The next priority would 
be to replace failing roofs in select locations at a cost of $400,000. He said that the next priorities would 
be replacing the 1960s-era electrical switch gear which had exceeded its useful life at a cost of $1.5 
million and replacing an aging MRI chiller that had exceeded its useful life at a cost of $150.000. The 
total of these high priority projects was $3.85 million. Mr. Ritchie provided photos of the infrastructure 
that he was describing. 

Mr. Ritchie and Mr. Chhabra indicated that additional deficiencies existed throughout the hospital, and 
that efforts had been undertaken by management to exert cost efficiencies and prudence in seeking capital 
expenditures for these purposes. Mr. Ritchie said that the quality of patient care and patient safety was 
the hospital's highest priority and was never compromised in making these decisions. They reviewed an 
additional 9 projects totaling $7 .688+ million. In addition, they estimated that $1-2 million would be 

Lakewood Hospital Association Executive Committee Meeting 3/18/2015 282 of746 Lakewood Hospital Association Executive Com ... 



Minutes of the Meeting of the 
Finance & Audit Committee of Lakewood Hospital Association 
October 23, 20 14 
Page4 Confidential 

needed for routine capital needs (medical equipment) during 2015. A general discussion followed, 
wherein the Committee members felt that for planning purposes it was appropriate to estimate $7.0 
million for these capital needs in the aggregate for 2015. 

2015 Operating and Capital Budget Approval 

A general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the Finance and Audit 
Committee unanimously recommended that the Board of Trustees approve the following operating 
budget, with the proviso that the Finance and Audit Committee planned to reconvene in mid-November to 
review and confirm the accuracy of the EBIDA range described above and notify the Board of Trustees if 
a modification to its approval of the budget was warranted as a result of the Committee's review in 
November: 

Sources 

Hospital EBIDA (within the range described above) 
MOBEBIDA 
Investment Income 
Total Source 

Uses 
Interest Expense 
Debt Payment 
Capital Expenditures (Placeholder Amount) 
Total Source 

Net Sources/ (Uses) 

2015 Committee Meetings 

1n Millions 
$1.6 

1.0 
3.0 

$5.6 

(0.6) 
(2.4) 
(7.0) 

$(10.0) 

$ (4.4) 

The Chair then distributed a listing of 2015 Board meeting dates and proposed dates for the Committee 
meetings. The Committee is scheduled to meet on January 22, April 16, June 18, and October 1, 2015. 
All meetings would be at 7:30 a.m. in the Board Room at Lakewood Hospital. The Chair said that he 
would prefer to have the October meeting of the Committee closer in time to the October 281

h meeting of 
the Board of Trustees, and the Committee members in attendance concurred. The Chair indicated that he 
would discuss that with the other members of the Committee and that the proposed October 1 date for a 
Committee meeting may be moved back later during the month of October, 2015. 
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There being no further business to come before the meeting, the same on motion duly made and 
seconded, was adjourned. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Michael J. Meehan 
Recording Secretary 
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Lakewood Hospital 
a Cleveland Clinic hospital 

LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 

Attendance 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

OCTOBER 29, 2014 

Trustees Present: Thomas J. Gable (Chair of the Board), M. Ellen Brzytwa, RN, MSN, MPH 
(Vice Chair of the Board), James R. Bekeny, MD, David L. Bronson, MD (President, Lakewood 
Hospital), Curtis M. Brosky, Thomas Bullock (Lakewood City Councilman), Carl A. Culley, Jr. 
MD, Rev. Jon M. Fancher, DMin, Richard B. Freeman, MD, Joseph P. Gibbons, Esq., Kenneth 
Haber, CPA, John Litten, Mary Louise Madigan (Lakewood City Councilwoman), John T. 
O'Neill, Rebecca Patton, MSN, RN, Gary R. Pritts, Dennis J. Roche, Hon. Michael P. Summers 
(Lakewood Mayor) and Mousab Tabbaa, MD. 

Administration Present: Ankit Chhabra (Finance Director), James Crandell, MD (Chief of 
Staff), Cynthia L. Deyling, MD, (Vice President, Regional Medical Affairs and Quality), Brian 
G. Donley, (President, Regional Hospitals and Health Centers), Michael P. Harrington (Chief 
Accounting Officer, CCF), J. Stephen Jones, MD (Vice President of Medical Operations, 
Regional Hospitals), Michael J. Meehan, Esq. (General Counsel, Regional Hospitals), William J. 
Riebel, MD (Vice President, Medical Operations), Shannan D. Ritchie (Interim Hospital 
President), Mary Sauer, MBA, BSN, RN (Chief Nursing Officer), Deborah Sukey (Executive 
Assistant), and Karen Weisman (Quality Director). 

Call to Order 

Pursuant to due notice, a Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees of Lakewood Hospital 
Association ("LHA"), dba Lakewood Hospital, a Cleveland Clinic Hospital, was held on 
Wednesday, October 29, 2014, at 4:05 p.m. in Wasmer Auditorium at Lakewood Hospital, 
14519 Detroit Avenue, Lakewood, Ohio. The aforementioned members of the Board of 
Trustees, constituting a quorum, were present. Mr. Gable chaired the meeting and Mr. Meehan 
served as Recording Secretary. 

Mr. Gable called the meeting to order. He welcomed all in attendance and thanked them for 
their participation. 

EDUCATION SESSION 

Mr. Gable then called upon Dr. Steven Jones to present an educational session on Ebola 
Preparedness. Dr. Jones provided an overview of the action steps taken at the onset of Ebola 
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entering the United States. It was reported that the Center for Disease Control had most recently 
conducted a tour of the Cleveland Clinic isolation unit and had approved precautions. In recent 
weeks staff were trained through both exercises and drills and leadership was confident that 
every caregiver of access points is ready should the community hospitals or the main campus 
encounter a patient with a suspecterl infection ofEhola. Dr. Jones invited Dr. Riebel to comment 
on Lakewood Hospital-specific preparedness, and Dr. Riebel then reviewed the Hospital's 
procedures that had been established. 

CHAIR'S REPORT 

Minutes of July 30, 2014 Meeting of the Board of Trustees and Minutes of August 15 and 
September 23, 2014 Meetings of the Executive Committee 

Mr. Gable then reviewed the minutes of the Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees of 
Lakewood Hospital Association held on July 30, 2014, and Executive Committee minutes of 
August 15 and September 23, 2014, copies of which had been distributed in advance. 

A general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the minutes were 
unanimously approved as distributed, and the acts described therein were ratified as acts of 
Lakewood Hospital Association. 

Establishment of Policy Committee 

Mr. Gable then indicated that a Policy Approval Process was being implemented on an 
enterprise-wide basis and that the Board should establish a Standing Committee for the purpose 
of reviewing and approving such policies and approve its membership. He called upon Mr. 
Meehan to review the background. 

Mr. Meehan indicated that the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) expected 
governing boards of providers to approve certain documents of a policy nature. He said that 
those documents were policies and procedures and other documents that dealt with a topic for 
which CMS or an accrediting body had determined that such policies or other documents should 
be maintained. He said that, as an enterprise, the Cleveland Clinic system had developed a 
policy approval process that included input from the community hospitals like Lakewood 
Hospital. He said that the policy process had recently been standardized as part of a consistent 
system and that governing board approval had been integrated into the approval process. He said 
that those policies containing a clinical component would be approved by the respective Medical 
Executive Committees of the hospitals in addition to receiving governing board approval. 

He asked that the Board adopt a resolution approving the policy review process. 
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A general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the Board of Trustees 
unanimously adopted the Resolution marked Exhibit A, attached hereto and made a part hereof. 

Mr. Meehan then requested that the Board establish a standing committee called the Policy 
Committee and that Mr. Gable propose the Committee's membership. 

A general discussion followed, whereupon Mr. Gable proposed that he himself as well as Mr. 
Brosky serve as the members of the Policy Committee of the Board. Mr. Brosky agreed to serve 
as requested. On motion duly made and seconded, the Board of Trustees unanimously adopted 
the following resolution: 

RESOLVED: that the LHA Board of Trustees establishes the Policy Committee as a 
Standing Committee; delegates to the Committee the authority to approve policies on 
behalf of the Board; directs that the actions of the Committee be presented to the Board at 
its next meetings for ratification; and ratifies the appointment of Messrs. Thomas Gable 
and Curtis Brosky as the members of the Policy Committee to serve until the next Annual 
Meeting or until their successors are appointed and qualified. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

Mr. Gable then reviewed the Consent Agenda. 

He called upon K. McGorray to present the Community Advisory Council report. Dr. McGorray 
reported that the Community Advisory Council had postponed its meeting of September 15. She 
reported that the next meeting would be held on November 11, 2014 when council would 
recognize Larry Faulhaber as recipient of the 2014 Community Service award. 

Mr. Gable asked if the items shown on the Consent Agenda portion of the meeting agenda 
should be extracted for a detailed discussion or presentation later in the meeting, whereupon, no 
items were extracted from the agenda. 

On motion duly made and seconded, the aforementioned Resolutions for items shown on the 
Consent Agenda were unanimously adopted. 

MANAGEMENT REPORT 

System Report 

Mr. Gable then called upon Dr. Donley to provide a System Report. Dr. Donley began his report 
by encouraging those who had not done so to consider obtaining a flu shot. He next reported the 
following: 
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• Dr. Mark Froimson, President of Euclid Hospital had accepted an opportunity outside the 
system as the Chief Clinical Officer of CHE Trinity Health System in Detroit. 

• Robert Juhasz, DO, President of South Point hospital became the I 17th president of the 
American Osteopathic Fotmdation. It was reported that the hospital haci an affiliation 
with Ohio University College of Osteopathic Medicine and the Center for Osteopathic 
Research and Education. The South Point campus is currently building-out a medical 
school where 50 students will be accepted into the medical student program and 
osteopathy training center; there are opportunities for the students to rotate throughout the 
health system. 

• It was reported that the Stephanie Tubbs Jones Health Center had recently won the 
Emerald Award for green health. The competitive award recognizes healthcare facilities 
that have achieved improvements in their mercury elimination, waste reduction, recycling 
and source reduction programs. 

Dr. Donley next reported on quality metrics including that the community hospitals had 
sustained all-cause 30-day readmission rates at or below the 13% target since the first quarter of 
2013. Next, he reported that since 2011, the community hospitals had been participating in the 
CMS Medicare and Medicaid EHR Incentive Program. This program offered incentives to 
eligible hospitals and healthcare professionals who demonstrate "meaningful use" of a certified 
electronic health record by meeting a number of objectives designed to improve quality, safety 
and efficiency, and reduce health disparities. All community hospitals hit their target for CMS's 
Stage 2. This was the result of collaboration and collective work of leadership and caregivers 
across the enterprise. 

Next, Dr. Donley reported that a mobile stroke unit, one of the first in the nation, had been 
introduced in the City of Cleveland. The unit equipped with a mobile CT and specialized staff, 
the unit is designed to shorten time to diagnosis and treatment. The goal of the stroke unit was to 
provide treatment within 30 minutes of arrival at an Emergency Department. It was reported that 
funding discussions were ongoing including an expanded scope of care. 

Dr. Donley reported a mobile pediatric unit provides treatment to children at Lakewood Schools 
with parental consent. In addition to mobile medicine it was reported that the concept of shared 
medical appointments had been very successful. 

In closing, Dr. Donley reported cost repositioning teams have been involved in considerable 
work daily to forge this massive effort forward over the past year. He then announced that he had 
been asked to assume the role as Chief of Staff. He stated that this appointment by Dr. Cosgrove 
sends a great message on the importance of the regional hospitals within the enterprise. Dr. 
Bronson then announced that this would most likely be his last meeting as President of 
Lakewood Hospital as he would be retiring at year end and had accepted the position of Chair
elect of The Joint Commission. He would continue to provide contributions while in his position 
with the Joint Commission. 

---·--·-----·---·-·--·-·---···-----·--·--·-··----------·---------·----·--- --·--···-----··--·------------------·-·--·-
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Mr. Gable thanked both Drs. Donley and Bronson for their leadership and guidance to the 
Lakewood Hospital Association Board of Trustees. 

Hospital Report 

Mr. Gable then called upon Mr. Ritchie to provide the Hospital Report. Mr. Ritchie reported that 
at the previous meeting he had stated that HealthStream had recognized the hospital for overall 
physician satisfaction rating - most improved since the previous survey. As a follow-up he 
presented the HCAHPS trends in physician communication for the fourth quarter 2013 through 
third quarter to date 2014. He reported that the physicians, under the leadership of Drs. Riebel 
and Khuri, had recently engaged physicians in the filming of a patient satisfaction video. 

Mr. Ritchie next introduced a patient experience video entitled, "A Daughter's Story." It was 
reported that the daughter of a patient at Lakewood Hospital approached leadership to describe 
certain experiences during her father's hospitalization approximately one year earlier. The 
daughter was a nurse. Her story had both unflattering and flattering aspects. It was so moving 
that leadership asked that she consider sharing the experience at an upcoming employee forum. 
After some time the daughter agreed. Mr. Ritchie, responding to requests from Lakewood 
Hospital caregivers who attended the first forum, had the daughter's story videotaped at the 
second forum session and required viewing the video as mandatory education for all caregivers. 
When the video was presented to the Medical Executive Committee, it was recommended that a 
letter of gratitude and support be sent to the daughter. At the request of the members of the 
Lakewood Hospital Association Board of Trustees appointed to Quality Executive Council the 
video was presented for viewing to the Board of Trustees at the meeting. 

During the discussion that followed, Ms. Brzytwa stated that speaking out as a professional was 
a critically important part of being a nurse and represented the height of professionalism. The 
Board members requested that Mr. Gable author a letter to the nurse on behalf of the Board of 
Trustees. Dr. Donley commended the administrative staff for the courage to present the story 
because doing so advanced the culture of safety and conduct embedded in emerging national 
goals and Cleveland Clinic enterprise principles. Dr. Deyling congratulated the team for 
bringing the story forward. 

QUALITY COMMITTEE 

Mr. Gable then called upon Ms. Weisman to present the Quality Committee report. She 
reported that the Executive Quality Council had met on three occasions and that the minutes 
thereof had been included in the Board materials distributed in advance of the meeting. Ms. 
Weisman then highlighted areas in which the hospital did not meet or had shown significant 
improvement in established targets. In light of the video dealing with patient quality and the 
Ebola preparedness presentation, her report was abbreviated. 
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The Chair then stated that the Board would receive a report from the Medical Staff. 
Credentialing actions were submitted by Dr. Culley for ratification and included new 
appointments and the granting of clinical privileges, reappointments of two-year terms, granting 
of additional privileges to current members of the Medical Staff, leaves of absence, and 
acceptance of resignation actions taken through the expedited credentialing process conducted on 
August 25 and October 6, 2014. 

A general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the Board of Trustees 
unanimously ratified and approved the aforementioned credentialing and privileging actions of 
August and October, 2014. 

FINANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The Chair then called upon Mr. Haber to deliver a report from the Finance and Audit Committee. 
Mr. Haber reported that the Finance and Audit Committee had met on October 23, 2014 and that 
the minutes of that meeting would be provided at the next meeting. He reported that the purpose 
of the meeting was to receive an update and also a forecast for the full year. It was reported that 
the majority of the meeting was spent on reviewing the 2015 budget. Mr. Haber asked that the 
Trustees approve the Committee's operating and capital budget recommendations with the 
understanding that the Finance and Audit Committee would meet to review the operating budget 
again in November 2014 based on the latest forecasting and that Mr. Haber would notify the 
Board Chair whether or not a revised budget projection was outside the EBIDA range for the 
operating budget recommendation being made to the Board at this meeting. Mr. Haber then 
called upon Mr. Chhabra to summarize the September 2014 financial summary and preliminary 
2015 operating budget. 

Mr. Chhabra first delivered the Finance Report. He reported that the third Quarter 2014 financial 
summary had been provided in advance of the meeting. Mr. Chhabra reviewed key points 
including: the operating revenue was below plan (and the prior year); overall activity was below 
plan (and 2013); non-acute volume was below plan (driven by Rehabilitation and Psychiatric 
volumes); outpatient and inpatient surgeries were below plan; ED volume (treat and release and 
admissions) were below plan; operating expenses were overall slightly unfavorable to budget; 
wage-based productivity had been at 102.3%. He next reviewed key metrics including hospital 
financials, EBIDA variance from budget, patient statistics, and the current year forecast based on 
year-to-date September 2014 and the LHA 2014 Outlook Sources & Uses of Funds. 

A general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the Board of Trustees 
unanimously accepted and approved Finance Report for the period ended September 30, 2014. 
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Next, Mr. Chhabra presented the annual operating budget components for Lakewood Hospital. 
He reviewed the EBIDA trend at Lakewood, indicating that the overall volume reductions were: 
for admissions 5.7%, surgical cases 6.6%, ED visits 4.7% .. He described the budgetary effect of 
the transition of the inpatient rehabilitation program. He noted that consolidated expenses had 
declined from approximately $129.1 million in 2012 to a 2015 budgeted projection of $115.6 
million due to efficiencies instituted but also due to volume reduction. He said that the number of 
FTEs over the same period was projected to decline from 900.9 to 792.0 FTEs. He reviewed the 
particular efficiencies that were expected, identifying salaries and wages, supplies and supply 
chain savings, and other expenses, totaling efficiencies for 2015 of approximately $1.3 million. 
Mr. Chhabra said that the budgeted 2015 EBIDA should appropriately be considered as a range 
due to unfavorable uncertainties involving pricing transparency, regulatory changes associated 
with the State DSH Program and the federal Meaningful Use Program, as well as the favorable 
impacts of the cost repositioning projects. He estimated the 2015 EBIDA budget range from a 
negative margin of $1.0 million to a positive margin of $2.5 million. Mr. Chhabra discussed the 
risks associated with the budget assumptions, specifically identifying that observation growth 
could be higher than projected, the uncertainty of ED volume, that volume decline may be more 
than the projection, especially surgical volume, and the uncertain timing and impact of 
regulations. Mr. Chhabra said that a number of open items could also affect the budget, such as 
current corporate planning, final clinical services cost estimates, confirming and validating 
clinical planning and indirect work stream impacts, and the impact of pricing and transparency. 

Mr. Chhabra asked Mr. Ritchie to present the 2015 infrastructure capital needs, and capital 
budget. Mr. Ritchie reported that 2015 infrastructure needs had been ranked in quartile priority 
tiers, and that the highest priority 1st and 2nd tiers had a projected cost of $3.8 million. He also 
provided a pictorial view of failing roofs, parking garage structural repairs, the exceeded useful 
life of a switch gear, and the replacement of an MRI chiller. Mr. Ritchie and Mr. Chhabra 
indicated that additional deficiencies existed throughout the hospital, and that efforts had been 
undertaken by management to exert cost efficiencies and prudence in seeking capital expenditures 
for these purposes. Mr. Ritchie said that the quality of patient care and patient safety was the 
hospital's highest priority and were never compromised in making these decisions. Additional 
deficiencies not ranked in the top two tiers were estimated at an additional cost of $7.7 million. 
Mr. Chhabra said that the Finance and Audit Committee had felt it was appropriate to consider the 
possibility that the Hospital to budget $7.0 million for these capital needs in the aggregate for 
2015. 

Mr. Haber then presented the pros and cons of the 2015 preliminary budget including an average 
year-over-year decline of 5.5%; the need to continually evaluate projects; and the loss of Inpatient 
Rehab volume due to the opening of Select Medical Joint Venture in the fourth quarter of 2015 
with a potential loss impact in 2015 and greater impact in 2016. He requested that the Board 
accept the recommendation of the Finance and Audit Committee and approve the operating and 
capital budgets as requested. 
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A general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the Board of Trustees 
unanimously accepted and approved the EBIDA range of $(1.0)-2.5 million as the 2015 budget 
for Lakewood Hospital Association with the caveat that the Board of Trustees may or may not 
reconsider its approval of the 2015 operating budget based upon the review in November 2014 by 
the Finance ann A unit Committee of the updated forecasting for operating budget. 

LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL FOUNDATION REPORT 

Mr. Gable then asked Mr. Haber to deliver the Lakewood Hospital Foundation Update from the 
Lakewood Hospital Foundation for July-October 2014 dated October 16, 2014, a copy of which 
had been distributed to the Trustees in advance. Mr. Haber then called upon Ms. Broadbent who 
presented "Connecting the Dots ... Impact of Philanthropic Investment." 

STEP TWO COMMITTEE REPORT 

Mr. Gable stated that the Board would receive a report from the Step Two Committee that had 
been established for the review of future planning. He called upon Mr. Meehan who requested 
that the Board go into executive session, whereupon all non-Trustees were excused, except for 
Messrs. Harrington, Ritchie, Chhabra, Meehan (himself), and Dr. Jones. 

As in prior meetings, Mr. Meehan requested that the Board adopt the resolution shown below. A 
general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and second, the Board of Trustees closed 
the meeting by unanimously adopting the following resolution: 

RESOLVED: that the LHA Board of Trustees hereby closes the meeting in accordance 
with Sec. 4.10 of the Code of Regulations of LHA because public discussion or action 
would be detrimental to the interests of the patients of Lakewood Hospital or the welfare 
of the residents of the City of Lakewood or Lakewood Hospital. 

A general discussion followed regarding the review by Subsiuium. 

In addition, Mr. Summers and Mr. Gable indicated that the Step 2 Committee felt a contract 
extension for Subsidium was warranted and they reviewed the rationale for that. They requested 
that the Board approve the continuation of the contract between Lakewood Hospital Association 
and Subsidium on the basis of an hourly rate of $400 per hour, which was a blended rate. 

A general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the Board of Trustees 
approved extending the contract with Subsidium at an hourly rate of $400 per hour. 
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There being no further business to be conducted in executive or closed session, the same, on 
motion duly made and seconded, was adjourned, and the meeting was no longer in executive 
session or closed in accordance with Sec. 4.10 of the Code of Regulations. 

EXTRACTED ITEMS FROM CONSENT AGENDA 

No items had been extracted from the Consent Agenda. 

ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to come before the meeting, the same, on motion duly made and 
seconded, was adjourned. 

Michael J. Meehan, Esq. 
Recording Secretary 
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REGARDING THE APPROVAL BY THE GOVERNING BOARD 
OF CERTAIN POLICIES AND OTHER DOCUMENTS 

WHEREAS, the Cleveland Clinic has adopted the Document Management Policy 
attached hereto as part of an enterprise-wide policy to address the manner in which certain 
policies should be approved by the governing boards within the Cleveland Clinic enterprise; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees of Lakewood Hospital Association is desirous of 
implementing the process utilized within the Cleveland Clinic enterprise; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Trustees hereby adopts the 
Document Management Policy, as amended from time to time by the Cleveland Clinic, attached 
hereto as applicable to the Cleveland Clinic Community Hospitals; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board ofTrustees authorizes the President of 
Lakewood Hospital Association to approve such additional procedures, processes, and actions as 
may be necessary to comply with the requirements of the aforementioned Policy; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Chief of Staff of Lakewood Hospital be 
requested to take such actions felt to be reasonably necessary in order to give effect to the above 
Resolutions. 
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Target Group: 

Cleveland Clinic- United States locations 

Approved by: 

Board of 
Directors, 
BOG/MEG 

Purpose 

Date Last 
Approved/Reviewed: 

03/12/2014 

Original Date of 
Issue: 

Not Set 
Prepared by: 

Bock, Lois (DIR 
POLICY OFFICE) 

Confidential 

Version 

1 

Effective Date 

06/01/2014 

To define the standardized process for development, approval, and management of one of the 
six Cleveland Clinic approved document types: policy, procedure, standard operating procedure 
(SOP), directive, protocol, and guideline. (From this point forward, use of the word document will 
represent these six document types.) 

Policy Statement 
Cleveland Clinic will develop clear and consistent documents to support its mission, vision, core 
values, and strategic objectives. These documents will be developed, reviewed, and approved 
by individuals possessing the proper expertise and authority. 

Definitions 
Approved Document Types and Definitions 
Policy: a mandatory, high level overall standard to establish a course of action toward 
organization and/or enterprise-wide acce~ted strategies and objectives. 
Procedure: provides detail on how to implement an existing policy. 
Standard Operating Procedure (SOP): a set of instructions to carry out a required activity or 
process not tied to an existing policy or procedure. 
Protocol: a system of actions that directs a clinical course in specifically defined situations or 
treatments. 
Directive: an authoritative statement for a defined target group of what to do or not do in a 
specific situation, issued by an appropriate person or body. 
Guideline: a suggested best practice which sets out processes to follow in a particular set of 
circumstances to reach certain quality outcomes. Guidelines are not mandatory. 

Cleveland Clinic United States locations (CCUS): Main Campus, Family Health Centers, 
physician practice sites, Children's Rehabilitation Hospital, and Las Vegas practice sites. 
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Community Hospitals (Euclid, Fairview, Hillcrest, Lakewood, Lutheran, Marymount, Medina and 
South Pointe), and Florida. 

Policy and Procedure Manager (PPM): The IT application used to manage Cleveland Clinic 
documents 

Policy Implementation 
1. Document Development 

• Confirm Document type 
o Standardized Document Types and Definitions 

• Select Standardized Document Template 
o Policy Template 
o Procedure Templat~ 
o Guideline Template 
o SOP Template 
o Directive Template 
o Nursing Institute Protocol Template 

• Utilize Policy and Procedure Manager (PPM) platform. This is required for all 
documents except those managed in the Lab QMS or HR Enwisen platforms. 

2. Document Approval 
• Obtain appropriate local approval based upon defined target group/audience 
• Secure approval by the Governing Body for any document required by a government 

or regulatory body (See Main Campus Approval Process- Appendix A) 

3. Document Review 
• All documents must be reviewed and approved every three years, or as required to 

meet current and/or new regulations. 

Oversight and Responsibility 
The Policy Office is responsible to review, revise, update, and operationalize this policy. 

It is the responsibility of each hospital, institute, department and discipline to implement the 
policy and to draft and operationalize related procedures to the policy if applicable. 

Other Background Information 
Created by: Policy Strategy & Implementation Standardization Team 
Issuing Office: Policy Office 
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Lakewood Hospital 
a Cleveland Clinic hospital 

Attendance 

LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

JANUARY 14, 2015 

Trustees Present: Thomas J. Gable (Chair of the Board), M. Ellen Brzytwa, RN, MSN, MPH 
(Vice Chair of the Board), Curtis M. Brosky, Thomas Bullock (Lakewood City Councilman), 
Carl A. Culley, Jr., MD, Rev. Jon M. Fancher, DMin, Richard B. Freeman, MD, Joseph P. 
Gibbons, Esq., William R. Gorton, Kenneth Haber, CPA, J. Stephen Jones, MD (President, 
Regional Hospitals and Health Centers), David M. Lesjak, John Litten, Mary Louise Madigan 
(Lakewood City Councilwoman), Kathleen T. McGorray, PhD, John T. O'Neill, Rebecca Patton, 
MSN, RN, Gary R. Pritts, Dennis J. Roche, Hon. Michael P. Summers (Lakewood Mayor) and 
Mousab Tabbaa, MD. 

Administration Present: Ankit Chhabra (Finance Director), Cynthia L. Deyling, MD, (Director 
of Quality, CCF), Brian G. Donley, MD (Chief of Staff, CCF), Steven C. Glass (Chief Financial 
Officer, CCF), Michael P. Harrington (Chief Accounting Officer, CCF), William Keckan 
(Executive Director, Regional Hospitals and Health Centers), Michael J. Meehan, Esq. (General 
Counsel, Regional Hospitals), Shannan D. Ritchie (Interim Hospital President), and Deborah 
Sukey (Executive Assistant). 

Guests Present: Kevin Butler, Esq. (City Law Director), and Lisa Fry and Brad Guest 
(Subsidium). 

Call to Order 

Pursuant to due notice, a Special Meeting of the Board of Trustees of Lakewood Hospital 
Association ("LHA"), dba Lakewood Hospital, a Cleveland Clinic Hospital, was held on 
Wednesday, January 14, 2015, at 4:00p.m. in Wasmer Auditorium at Lakewood Hospital, 14519 
Detroit A venue, Lakewood, Ohio. The aforementioned members of the Board of Trustees, 
constituting a quorum, were present. Mr. Gable chaired the meeting and Mr. Meehan served as 
Recording Secretary. 

Mr. Gable called the meeting to order. He welcomed all in attendance and thanked them for 
attending what would be a very important meeting of the Board of Trustees. 
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Mr. Gable reviewed the agenda for the meeting, indicating that both Cleveland Clinic and 
Subsidium wou lei make presentations during the meeting related to future planning for 
Lakewood Hospital, and that Subsidium would be making its recommendation to the Board. 

Mr. Gable also said that Dr. David Bronson had retired from the Cleveland Clinic effective 
December 31, 2012, as had been announced to the Board of Trustees at its Regular Meeting in 
October, 2014. On behalf of the Board of Trustees he expressed his appreciation for Dr. 
Bronson's service as a Member Trustee of LHA and as its President. Mr. Gable announced that 
Dr. Jones had been appointed by The Cleveland Clinic Foundation, LHA's Member, as a 
Member Trustee to replace Dr. Bronson effective January 1, 2015, and he welcomed Dr. Jones to 
the Board. 

APPROVAL OF PRESIDENT 

Mr. Gable also said that the Clinic had appointed Dr. Jones to serve as President to replace Dr. 
Bronson as LHA's chief executive officer in accordance with Section 2.8 of the Code of 
Regulations to serve until the next Annual Meeting of LHA or until his replacement has been 
duly qualified and appointed. Mr. Gable said that the Code also required that the Board of 
Trustees approve the Clinic's appointment of the chief executive of LHA as such position is 
described in Sec. 6.5 of the Code of Regulations. 

Dr. Tabbaa, Chair of the Governance Committee, stated that the Governance Committee, at its 
meeting on November 4, 2014, was aware that Dr. Bronson would be retiring, but that his 
replacement had not yet been announced. Dr. Tabbaa proposed that the Board of Trustees 
approve the Clinic's appointment of Dr. Jones as the President and chief executive of LHA. 

A general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the Board of Trustees 
unanimously adopted the following Resolution: 

RESOLVED: that the appointment of J. Stephen Jones, M.D. by The Cleveland Clinic 
Foundation as President and chief executive officer of Lakewood Hospital Association is 
hereby approved. 

ACTION TO CLOSE MEETING 

Mr. Gable stated that the Board would enter into discussions regarding the future planning for 
Lakewood Hospital. He called upon Mr. Meehan who requested that the Board, as in prior 
meetings, enter into a closed meeting format to promote long-term patient safety and protect the 

---------------------~-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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proprietary information about to be discussed and to preserve and protect the assets of LHA. A 
general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and second, the Board of Trustees closed 
the meeting by unanimously adopting the following resolution: 

RESOLVED: that the LHA Bo~rd of Tmstees hereby closes the meeting in accordance 
with Sec. 4.10 of the Code of Regulations of LHA because public discussion or action 
would be detrimental to the interests of the patients of Lakewood Hospital or the welfare 
ofthe residents of the City of Lakewood or Lakewood Hospital. 

CLEVELAND CLINIC PRESENTATION REGARDING FUTURE PLANNING 

Mr. Gable then said that the Cleveland Clinic had been recommended by Subsidium, in 
consultation with the Step 2 Committee, as the long-term affiliate for the future planning for 
health care in Lakewood. As would be described later in the report from Subsidium, the Clinic 
had responded to Subsidium's Request for Proposal. Subsidium had discussed and assisted in 
the refinement of the terms that served as the Clinic's proposal, as more further described in the 
draft Letter of Intent that had been distributed to the Trustees in advance of the meeting. The 
Letter of Intent is marked Exhibit A, attached to these minutes and made a part hereof. Mr. 
Gable said that Drs. Donley and Jones and Mr. Glass would present the Clinic's proposal, after 
which, when they had left the meeting, the representatives from Subsidium would further discuss 
the proposal, Subsidium's overall process, and Subsidium's recommendation. 

Mr. Gable then invited Dr. Donley to begin the Clinic's presentation. Dr. Donley expressed his 
appreciation for the opportunity to present the Clinic's plan. He further expressed the Clinic's 
commitment to the Lakewood community. He said that the Clinic's plan represented a 
collaborative effort among the key leadership groups in healthcare in the -City of Lakewood, i.e., 
LHA, Lakewood Hospital Foundation, the City of Lakewood, and the Clinic. He said that the 
four groups held a shared vision that was built on the Clinic's historical commitment to 
Lakewood community, was designed to collaboratively improve Lakewood's community health 
status, stabilize the economic contribution to City of Lakewood, serve in steward of the 
combined community resources, serve as a sustainable model, aligns Lakewood's health care 
future planning with Cleveland Clinic strategy, and addresses the 2013 Community Health 
Needs Assessment conducted by Lakewood Hospital and the Clinic enterprise. 

Dr. Donley reviewed the findings of the 2013 Community Health Needs Assessment. He said 
that the Lakewood stakeholders had asked for: access to preventive care, an environment 
supportive of healthy habits, physicians readily available to Lakewood residents, and the 
promotion of awareness about healthy living. Dr. Donley said that the shared vision was 
designed to improve quality and promote healthy living in the City of Lakewood. He said that 
the shared vision involved a "Triple Aim," focused on the health of a population, the experience 
of care, and the per capita cost of care. This Triple Aim involved placing Patients First, which 
led to value through quality outcomes and affordable cost. 
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He said that health care is changing from a facility- and physician-based paradigm, designed to 
care for the sick, to a population-based effort that aimed to improve the health of an entire 
community by helping people live healthier lives, treating their health conditions early to prevent 
chronic diseases, anrl rerlucing the need for "sick care" in hospitals. Under the plan the services 
currently provided by Lakewood Hospital would be transformed from a predominantly inpatient 
focus to a comprehensive ambulatory-based program of health care services, wellness activities, 
and outreach services that would touch the lives of Lakewood residents. 

Dr. Donley said that the health care landscape had changed dramatically from when the Clinic 
began its affiliation with LHA. It is now uncommon to hospitalize patients for, for example, 
kidney stone surgery, cholecystectomy (gallbladder), or knee surgery. Recovery from surgery 
now involves days instead of weeks, due to improvements in the treatment of blood clots 
involving deep vein thrombosis, the use of IV antibiotics, and reductions in pneumonia cases. 

He said that the Clinic's strategic direction positions the Clinic, as Lakewood's long-term partner 
in the process, as a specialty care referral center that serves as a population manager for 
communities directly served like Lakewood, an innovative academic medical center and health 
care services provider. He said that the Clinic's plan provided partnership opportunities in the 
areas of education, nutrition, active living, and increased access to care. 

Dr. Donley said that the Clinic's plan included the development of a Cleveland Clinic Family 
Health Center in Lakewood on the current hospital site. He asked Dr. Jones to describe the 
proposed Family Health Center. Dr. Jones then indicated that the Clinic would construct, own, 
and operate at its own expense a modem state-of-the-art Family Health Center of approximately 
62,000 sq. ft. with a 2417 emergency department, multispecialty clinics, and innovative services. 
He said that the Center for Family Medicine Residency, cunently located at Fairview Hospital, 
would be moved to Lakewood. He said the facility would offer specialty clinics and that 
inpatient care when necessary would be available at nearby at system hospitals such as Fairview 
Hospital (3.3 miles away), Lutheran Hospital (5.7 miles), and the Cleveland Clinic Main Campus 
(13.3 miles). 

Dr. Jones then described as discussed the services planned to be offered in the Family Health 
Center, as follows: 

• Emergency Department (24/7/365) 
• Primary Care featuring an advanced patient centered medical home model 
• Extended hours/weekends 
• Procedures including cardiac and pulmonary testing 
• Radiology and lab services 
• eVisits/MyChart 
• Home care coordinated with FHC and Fairview 
• Selected specialties as determined by community need: 
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Family Medicine/Pediatrics 
Women's Health (incl. Midwifery) 
Diabetes Care 
Musculoskeletal Care 
Ophthalmology /Optometry 
Brain Health/Behavioral health 
Pulmonology 
Urology 
Cardiac Care 
Geriatrics 
Digestive Diseases 
Chronic Disease Clinics 
Pharmacy 
Physical/Occupational Therapy 

Confidential 

Dr. Jones said that the model represented a "medical home," involving comprehensive and 
coordinated care, enhanced access to care, a physician-directed medical practice, safety and 
quality, treatment of the patient as a "whole," patient engagement, and payment for added value. 
He discussed the cycle of the care model. 

Dr. Jones then called upon Mr. Glass to review the financial aspect of the plan. Mr. Glass 
indicated that financial resources from the Clinic, LHA, and Lakewood Hospital Foundation 
would be contributed as part of the vision. He summarized the major financial commitments of 
the Clinic and LHA by indicating that the Clinic or LHA would provide a base payment to the 
Lakewood wellness organization in two installments totaling $24.4 million; that the Clinic 
would construct and operate the proposed Family Health Center at an estimated construction cost 
of $34 million; that the Clinic would make ongoing contributions of $0.5 million annually for 16 
years for a total of $8.0 million; that the Clinic would purchase the facility known as 850 
Columbia Rd. in Westlake from LHA for $8.2 million and that LHA would contribute said $8.2 
million to the City; and that the Clinic would pay the City fair value for the land needed for the 
Clinic's Family Health Center, with an option for the City to buy the land back. He said that 
these and other components of the proposed transition were more fully described in the Letter of 
Intent. 

He reviewed the balance sheet assets of LHA. He explained that the proposal provided for the 
liquidation and dissolution of LHA and the transfer of the net assets of LHA to the Clinic upon 
dissolution or during the transition. He said that the total assets of LHA appeared to be $158 
million (as of Sept. 30, 2014), but that a margin of only $25 million was expected after netting 
the total assets with the considerations for Lakewood Hospital Foundation's assets reflected on 
the LHA balance sheet; demolished or not usable property, plant, and equipment; donor 
restricted assets; total liabilities; asset transfers to the City contemplated by the Letter of Intent; 
the "savings" of lease payments from mid-2016 when the hospital was expected to cease 
operating through 2026 when the lease would expire; and the estimated transition costs involving 
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EBIDA losses in 2015 and 2016, capital expenditures, demolition/abatement/power plant 
relocation, severance and retention, and post-closure closing costs/contingency/consulting and 
legal fees. 

He said that the Clinic or LHA, while making the guaranteed contribution of $24.4 million, 
would be assuming the risk of unforeseen and unfavorable circumstances that could erode or 
completely deplete the aforementioned expected margin of $25 million-unfavorable 
circumstances associated with safety and quality issues during the transition, potential losses 
during the wind-down, operating losses, severance, emergency infrastructure needs, contractual 
obligations, unforeseen demolition and abatement costs, and the liquidation of property, plant 
and equipment. He said that if the expected margin was completely depleted, the Clinic would 
remain obligated to finance the wind-down of the hospital's operations and the dissolution of 
LHA. He said that the proposal provided guaranteed funding of the fixed amount of $24.4 
million for the proposed health and wellness initiative while passing on the risk to the Clinic of 
any erosion ofLHA's net assets due to such unforeseen and unfavorable circumstances. 

Mr. Gable then thanked Drs. Donley and Jones and Mr. Glass for their presentation. Mr. Gable 
then requested that all members of the Clinic's management team be excused. He indicated that 
Dr. Jones as a Trustee and that Mr. Meehan as the elected corporate Secretary would remain 
since this was a formal meeting of the Board of Trustees, unlike the informal "caucus" format 
sessions that had been used as a vehicle to exchange information and input with Subsidium 
without Clinic management in attendance. Whereupon, Ms. Sukey, Messrs. Chhabra, Glass, 
Harrington, Keckan, and Ritchie, and Drs. Deyling and Donley were excused. In addition, Mr. 
Butler left the meeting. 

PRESENTATION OF SUBSIDIUM'S REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Mr. Gable then said that the members of the Board had been involved in discussions and 
presentations from Subsidium during the past two years, both at Board meetings and in informal 
caucus-style sessions that Cleveland Clinic management had not been invited to for reasons of 
Board independence during the process. Mr. Gable said Subsidium had formulated 
recommendations which it was prepared to present. He then called upon Ms. Fry to present the 
report of Subsidium and its recommendations. Ms. Fry then addressed the Board of Trustees, 
indicating that her presentation, depicted in part by PowerPoint, would summarize Subsidium's 
strategic options evaluation process, summarize the key rationale for Subsidium's 
recommendations, present Subsidium's recommendations, answer any remaining questions from 
the Trustees, and support the vote process as appropriate. 

Ms. Fry said that the Strategic Options Evaluation Process involved four major stages of work, 
and that some of which had overlapped at times. 
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Ms. Fry said that the first stage involved an evaluation of the "Context" of the issue. The stage 
began in late 2012 before Subsidium was involved when the Board of Trustees identified the 
significance of the Hospital's deteriorating financial performance. It was also identified that 
potentially $90+ million would be necessary for the Hospital buildings to be viable for the next 
20 years. An increasing percentage of Lakewood residents were seeking hospital care outside of 
Lakewood Hospital (56%). The concept of a standalone hospital was untenable. Hospital 
admissions across the market had declined 10% during 2007-2012. The Board felt that the status 
quo was also untenable and that it should engage an expert consultant to advise the Board on the 
Hospital's future, the market environment, and alternatives. The Board of Trustees of LHA 
decided in late 2012 that it must proactively prepare for the end of the current lease term in 2026. 

Mr. Gable said that the Board of Trustees had requested proposals from multiple consulting 
finns, mostly of a national reputation. The Board had felt that Subsidium Healthcare of Atlanta 
was the best choice for the project, and entered into an engagement with Subsidium during the 
first half of 2013. 

Ms. Fry continued by saying that the second phase of the review process involved the 
identification of "Strategy" for LHA. The Board was seeking what the correct strategic model of 
healthcare should be for Lakewood in the future. This phase ran during July 2013 -December 
2013. Multiple models were considered, including a full-service hospital, operating a specialty 
hospital, closing the Hospital for inpatient services, and others, including the status quo. Two 
primarily criteria were identified: support for future community health needs, and financial 
viability in the near term and sustainability for the future. It was recognized that trends were 
shifting to outpatient services from the traditional inpatient model. A huge capital investment 
was required per person-served for inpatient services. The community health needs, as identified 
in a recent assessment conducted by the Hospital pursuant to Federal law, were more consistent 
with comprehensive ambulatory care, seemingly offering a significant opportunity to innovate in 
Lakewood 

In 2012, only 44% of the total inpatient admissions for people in zip code 44107 were admitted 
to Lakewood Hospital. Total inpatient cases in Lakewood's service area decreased 10% between 
2007-2012; the Hospital's total inpatient cases decreased 32% over the same period. Alternative 
hospitals were well within market-accepted standards for driving distance for inpatient care (3.5 
miles to Fairview Hospital, and 7.3 miles to MetroHealth). The Lakewood community exhibited 
above average prevalence rates of obesity, smoking and chemical dependency, as well as higher 
than average rates for several chronic conditions, including COPD, adult asthma, congestive 
heart failure and diabetes. Primary needs identified by the 2013 Community Health Needs 
Assessment had included improved access to primary, preventive care, and mental health 
services; coordination of affordable health care and outreach; and public transportation and other 
basic community services. 

She also said that higher volumes are highly correlated with higher quality inpatient care; thus 
consolidation of programs drives quality of care. Overall, outpatient services spending (per 
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capita) was currently growing at nearly twice the rate of overall health care spending across the 
U.S. Leading industry futurists expected that over 1,000 hospitals would close by 2020 across 
the United States. 

After due consideration, the it was decided to pursue a strategy over time to evolve the current 
inpatient service model to a comprehensive outpatient model and further invest in community 
health and wellness. 

The third stage involved the identification of the appropriate "Partner" whom the Board should 
work with to implement the chosen strategy. The Board sought to identify the best long-term 
partner in this phase, which ran during approximately January 2014- June 2014. On behalf of 
the Board, Subsidium approached all local partners first, i.e., University Hospitals Health 
System, Cleveland Clinic, MetroHealth, Catholic Health Partners, and Premier Physicians. 
Subsidium also marketed the Hospital to potential for-profit investors. (Seven for-profit 
companies were approached and all declined interest.) Subsidium received formal proposals 
from Cleveland Clinic and MetroHealth/Premier Physicians. The proposals involved very 
different strategies and implementation. Subdidium, in conjunction with representatives from 
the Board of Trustees, evaluated the potential risks and benefits of the proposals to the 
Lakewood community, as well as the cost of the status quo. She said continuing the status quo 
would lead to the exhaustion of approximately $50 million in cash on the balance sheet, and 
leave Lakewood with an expensive liability at the end of the lease. After due consideration and 
deliberation, the decision was made to pursue a relationship with the current partner, Cleveland 
Clinic, under revised terms to support long-term sustainability. Ms. Fry said that MetroHealth 
withdrew its proposal. 

The final stage of the evaluation process involved a review and negotiation of "Terms" that 
would structure and finance the future relationships and services. This stage occurred during July 
- December, 2014. The terms would be negotiated with Cleveland Clinic representatives and 
placed in a non-binding letter of intent that would be presented to the LHA Board of Trustees for 
approval as well as the governing board of Lakewood Hospital Foundation and the City of 
Lakewood. In evaluating the proposed terms, the Board representatives and Subsidium 
evaluated the potential cost of the status quo, determining that $150-200 million in losses would 
likely be incurred between now and 2026, when the lease expired. It was felt that the terms of a 
proposal must create financial capacity for Lakewood to invest in the community through its own 
means, and estimates were developed in connection therewith. The terms needed to support the 
City's liability despite significant revenue reductions. The terms of the proposal would also need 
to provide that the City would maintain influence over future uses of the property upon which the 
Hospital currently resided, given the importance of the location within the City. After due 
consideration, Subsidium and key members from the Board negotiated the terms depicted in the 
Letter of Intent, attached hereto as Exhibit A, to establish a strong tax-exempt entity to invest in 
community health initiatives and to help the City maintain its long-term financial health, while 
enabling the investment by the Cleveland Clinic of a Family Health Center at the current 
Hospital location. 
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Ms. Fry then summarized the key financial terms descripted in the Letter of Intent, indicating 
that the new wellness foundation would receive an investment totaling $32.4 million; that 
proceeds/assets retained by the City of Lakewood would total $14.2 million; and that the 
Cleveland Clinic would invest $34 million in the construction of the new Family Health Center. 
She presented a PowerPoint slide that depicted the breakdown and sources of these investments. 
She said that Subsidium's financial estimates were materially consistent with those presented by 
Mr. Glass. 

She said that the new vision described in the Letter of Intent provided the opportunity for 
Lakewood to invest in becoming the healthiest community in Ohio. Subsidium recommended 
Cleveland Clinic as a partner to ensure that Lakewood residents have access to world class 
healthcare services in their home town. On behalf of Subsidium, Ms. Fry recommended that the 
Board of Trustees adopt the two Resolutions shown immediately below and authorize the Chair 
of the Board to sign the Letter of Intent attached as Exhibit A on behalf of LHA. 

DISCUSSION AND ACTION UPON RECOMMENDATION 

A very lengthy discussion followed during which the members of the Board of Trustees 
reviewed and duly considered the presentation by the representatives of the Clinic and the report 
and recommendations presented by Subsidium Healthcare. During the discussion, the Board 
members considered and debated at length the various aspects of the recommendations. At the 
conclusion of the discussion, the Board's members expressed the belief that it was in the best 
interest of LHA to authorize the Chair of the Board of Trustees to sign the attached Letter of 
Intent as an action of LHA. On motion duly made and seconded, the Board of Trustees 
unanimously, with one Board member abstaining, adopted the following Resolutions: 

RESOLVED: that the Board of Trustees of Lakewood Hospital Association accepts the 
recommendation of Subsidium Healthcare and authorizes the Chairman of the Board of 
Trustees to sign the Letter of Intent attached to these minutes as an action of Lakewood 
Hospital Association; and 

RESOLVED: that the Board of Trustees of Lakewood Hospital Association, in 
furtherance of the foregoing Resolution, authorizes the Chairman of the Board and other 
officers to (i) take those steps necessary to support the development and negotiation of 
any and all agreement(s) between or among Lakewood Hospital Association, Lakewood 
Hospital Foundation, The Cleveland Clinic Foundation, and the City of Lakewood, (ii) 
present said agreement(s) to the full Lakewood Hospital Association Board ofTrustees 
for approval and (iii) then submit same agreement(s) to the other parties for their further 
action. 
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Immediately subsequent to the adoption of the foregoing Resolutions, the abstaining Board 
member duly made a motion that the foregoing Resolutions be adopted unanimously without 
abstention. The motion was duly seconded, whereupon the Board of Trustees unanimously, 
without any abstentions, ratified its approval of the foregoing Resolutions. 

ADDING/EXTENDING CONSULTANT ENGAGEMENTS 

Mr. Gable then stated that it may be advisable and prudent for the Board of Trustees, in 
furtherance of the foregoing resolutions, to authorize the Chair of the Board of Trustees on 
behalf of the Board to engage qualified advisor(s) as needed to support the development and 
negotiation of any and all agreement(s) between or among LHA, Lakewood Hospital 
Foundation, The Cleveland Clinic Foundation, and the City of Lakewood, including extending 
current engagements of advisors as necessary, and further authorize the Chair of the Board of 
Trustees and the Chair of the Finance and Audit Committee of the Board jointly to approve the 
expenditure of LHA funds for this purpose. He said that he would update the Board on the 
process and expenditures at appropriate intervals. 

A general discussion followed and, on motion duly made and seconded, the Board of Trustees 
unanimously, without any abstentions, adopted the following Resolution: 

RESOLVED: that the Board of Trustees of Lakewood Hospital Association hereby 
authorizes the Chair of the Board of Trustees (on behalf of the Board of Trustees) to 
engage advisor(s) as needed to support the planning and negotiations process involving 
any and all agreement(s) between or among Lakewood Hospital Association, Lakewood 
Hospital Foundation, The Cleveland Clinic Foundation, and the City of Lakewood, and 
further authorizes the Chair of the Board of Trustees and the Chair of the Finance and 
Audit Committee of the Board of Trustees jointly to approve the expenditure of 
Lakewood Hospital Association funds for this purpose in an amount not to exceed 
$500,000 in the aggregate. Amounts in excess of this amount must receive the approval 
of the Board of Trustees or the Executive Committee. The Chair of the Board shall 
update the Board of Trustees on the process and expenditures at appropriate intervals. 

COMMUNICATIONS PLANNING 

Mr. Gable then said that considerable communications planning had been undertaken in 
anticipation that the LHA Board of Trustees would vote to approve the Letter of Intent at this 
meeting. He explained that the interests of the patients and employees was a priority, and he 
explained how patients would be informed about the announcement which they inevitably would 
hear about in the media. Dr. Jones said that employee forums had been scheduled to begin at 
7:00 on the following morning, that employees at Lakewood Hospital would still be needed, and 
that hiring would continue to occur at the Hospital. Dr. Jones said that Cleveland Clinic had 
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capacity throughout its enterprise and that it was the goal to provide every Lakewood Hospital 
employee who wanted a job with an opportunity in the health system or one of the Clinic's 
partner organizations. 

Mr. Gahle said that the Hospital trustees had planned to host an initial public forum on January 
28, 2014 at the Beck Center in Lakewood, subject to the approval of the Letter of Intent by the 
LHA Board of Trustees. He expected that there would be other public meetings after that as 
well. He indicated that the Letter of Intent would be signed immediately on behalf of LHA, 
Lakewood Hospital Foundation, and The Cleveland Clinic Foundation, and that a fully executed 
copy would be given to Mr. Summers as Mayor that evening. Mr. Gable called on Mr. Summers 
to describe the steps that the City would embark upon to evaluate the Letter of Intent. 

Mr. Summers said that, in anticipation that the LHA Board of Trustees would authorize the 
signing of the Letter of Intent at this meeting, he had prepared in advance a letter to City Council 
and now would send the letter that evening indicating that the LHA Board of Trustees had voted 
to sign a Letter of Intent along with Lakewood Hospital Foundation and The Cleveland Clinic 
Foundation. His letter would state that the Letter of Intent, if carried forward, would chart a 
course for healthcare in Lakewood in the near term and over the next several decades. His letter 
would outline the key terms of the plan described in the Letter of Intent. The letter to City 
Council would say that the components of the plan merit serious dedication to tasks that lie 
ahead, such as contemplating the City's role in the process, openly and earnestly hearing the 
Lakewood citizens' concerns, and negotiating and implementing as appropriate a fair agreement 
with the other parties that would culminate in legislation for City Council's consideration. 

Mr. Summers said that his letter to City Council would provide that one of the first steps on that 
path would be for members of City Council to hear directly from the hospital trustees and the 
Cleveland Clinic team, and that the initial public forum on January 28 would provide one 
opportunity for that. The letter would further request that, prior to that public forum, the letter be 
referred to City Council's Committee of the Whole for further discussion and deliberations in 
conjunction with the public meetings to be hosted by the Hospital. 

Mr. Summers also said that a press conference would be conducted at Lakewood City Hall on 
the following morning, January 15, 2015, at which Mr. Gable, Mr. Haber as President of 
Lakewood Hospital Foundation, Dr. Toby Cosgrove, Chief Executive Officer of the Cleveland 
Clinic, and Mr. Summers would participate. Written communication points were distributed to 
the Trustees. Mr. Summers reviewed an anticipated timeline of activities. Messrs. Gable and 
Summers responded to comments and questions from the Trustees. 

The members of the Board of Trustees expressed their appreciation to Mr. Gable and Mr. 
Summers and the members of the Step 2 Team and the other Trustees intimately involved in the 
project thus far for their efforts as members of the Board of Trustees of Lakewood Hospital 
Association. 
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ACTION TO REOPEN MEETING 

Confidential 

There being no further business to be conducted in executive or closed session, the same, on 
motion duly made and seconded, was ::~cijonmed, and the meeting was no longer in executive 
session or closed in accordance with Sec. 4.10 of the Code of Regulations. 

OTHER BUSINESS 

Mr. Gable then asked if there was any further business to come before the Board, and there was 
none. 

ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to come before the meeting, the same, on motion duly made and 
seconded, was adjourned at 9:05p.m. 

Michael J. Meehan, Esq. 
Recording Secretary 

Lakewood Hospital Association Executive Committee Meeting 3/18/2015 296 of 746 Lakewood Hospital Association Executive Com ... 



Lakewood Hospital Association 
Special Meeting ofthe Board of Trustees 
January 14, 2015 
Page 13 

Confidential 

EXHIBIT A 

TO THE MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
OF LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION ON JAN. 14, 2015 

LETTER OF INTENT 
AMONG CLEVELAND CLINIC, LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 

AND LAKEWOOD HOSPITAL FOUNDATION 
REGARDING THE FUTURE OF HEALTH CARE SERVICES 

TO THE LAKEWOOD COMMUNITY 

LETTER OF INTENT FOLLOWS 
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